

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

Title: AFFIRMATION/DISCUSSION AND VOTE

Location: ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND

Date: FEBRUARY 2, 1989

Pages: 5 PAGES

NEAL R. GROSS AND CO., INC.

COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS  
1323 Rhode Island Avenue, Northwest  
Washington, D.C. 20005  
(202) 234-4433

# DISCLAIMER

This is an unofficial transcript of a meeting of the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission held on FEBRUARY 2, 1989 in the Commission's office at One White Flint North, Rockville, Maryland. The meeting was open to public attendance and observation. This transcript has not been reviewed, corrected or edited, and it may contain inaccuracies.

The transcript is intended solely for general informational purposes. As provided by 10 CFR 9.103, it is not part of the formal or informal record of decision of the matters discussed. Expressions of opinion in this transcript do not necessarily reflect final determination or beliefs. No pleading or other paper may be filed with the Commission in any proceeding as the result of, or addressed to, any statement or argument contained herein, except as the Commission may authorize.

NEAL R. GROSS  
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS  
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

\* \* \*

AFFIRMATION/DISCUSSION AND VOTE

\* \* \*

PUBLIC MEETING

\* \* \*

Nuclear Regulatory Commission  
One White Flint North  
Rockville, Maryland

Thursday, February 2, 1989

The Commission met in open session, pursuant to notice, at 3:30 p.m., the Honorable LANDO W. ZECH, JR., Chairman of the Commission, presiding.

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

LANDO W. ZECH, JR., Chairman of the Commission  
THOMAS M. ROBERTS, Member of the Commission  
KENNETH M. CARR, Member of the Commission  
KENNETH C. ROGERS, Member of the Commission  
JAMES R. CURTISS, Member of the Commission

1 STAFF AND PRESENTERS SEATED AT THE COMMISSION TABLE:

2 JOHN HOYLE, Assistant Secretary

3 WILLIAM C. PARLER, General Counsel

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

NEAL R. GROSS  
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS  
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005

P R O C E E D I N G S

(3:30 p.m.)

CHAIRMAN ZECH: Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

This is an affirmation session. We have three items before us this afternoon. Before I ask the Secretary to lead us through the items, do any of my fellow Commissioners have any comments to make?

(No response.)

If not, Mr. Secretary, you may proceed.

MR. HOYLE: Mr. Chairman and Commissioners, the first item is SECY-88-357. The title is Final Rule on Informal Procedures for Materials Licensing Adjudications.

The Commission, in this paper, is being asked to approve a final rule which provides procedures for the conduct of informal adjudicatory hearings in materials licensing proceedings.

All Commissioners have approved the final rule, with two modifications proposed by Commissioners Carr and Curtiss. The first one would require that in those cases where Federal Register Notices of pending licensing actions are issued, they would describe the opportunity for a hearing or reference the regulations under which a hearing request can be made.

**NEAL R. GROSS**

COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS

1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005

1           The other would require states, localities and  
2 other similar entities, at the time they seek to  
3 participate, to state with reasonable specificity the  
4 subject matter on which they desire to participate.

5           I ask that you affirm your votes.

6           (Chorus of ayes.)

7           MR. HOYLE: The second paper is SECY-88-358.  
8 It is the final rule on immediate effectiveness  
9 procedures on related Federal Register Notice on TMI-  
10 related policy statements.

11           The Commission, in this paper, is being asked  
12 to act on a final rule which makes minor changes in the  
13 Commission's Rules of Practice, which specifies when a  
14 license, permit, or amendment can be issued following an  
15 initial adjudicatory decision resolving all issues.

16           The final rule also deletes outdated language  
17 in the existing regulations, emanating from the Three  
18 Mile Island related regulatory policies upon which  
19 action has been completed.

20           The Commission is also being asked to approve  
21 the issuance of an updated policy statement and the  
22 revocation of a superseded policy statement relating to  
23 requirements imposed after the Three Mile Island  
24 accident.

25           All Commissioners have approved the rule

**NEAL R. GROSS**  
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS  
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005

1 changes and the policy statement, with modifications by  
2 Commissioner Carr.

3 I ask you to affirm your votes.

4 (Chorus of ayes.)

5 MR. HOYLE: The third and final item is SECY-  
6 89-003 which regards the Shoreham proceeding. The  
7 Commission is being asked to act on a pending motion to  
8 add a new contention on medical services for  
9 contaminated, injured individuals, for litigation in the  
10 Shoreham proceeding.

11 Chairman Zech and Commissioners Roberts, Carr  
12 and Rogers have approved an order, with modifications by  
13 Commissioner Carr, which denies this motion.  
14 Commissioner Curtiss did not participate in this action.

15 I ask you to affirm your votes.

16 (Chorus of ayes.)

17 CHAIRMAN ZECH: Is there anything else to come  
18 before us this afternoon?

19 MR. HOYLE: No.

20 CHAIRMAN ZECH: Thank you very much. We stand  
21 adjourned.

22 (Whereupon, at 3:33 p.m., the meeting was  
23 adjourned.)

24

25

CERTIFICATE OF TRANSCRIBER

This is to certify that the attached events of a meeting  
of the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission entitled:

TITLE OF MEETING: AFFIRMATION/DISCUSSION AND VOTE

PLACE OF MEETING: ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND

DATE OF MEETING: FEBRUARY 2, 1989

were transcribed by me. I further certify that said transcription  
is accurate and complete, to the best of my ability, and that the  
transcript is a true and accurate record of the foregoing events.

*Phyllis Young*

Reporter's name: \_\_\_\_\_  
(if other than transcriber)

**NEAL R. GROSS**  
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS  
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005





## **RULEMAKING ISSUE**

**(Affirmation)**

December 29, 1988

SECY-88-357

**For:** The Commission

**From:** William C. Parler  
General Counsel

**Subject:** FINAL RULE ON INFORMAL PROCEDURES FOR  
MATERIALS LICENSING ADJUDICATIONS

**Prior History:** SECY-87-88; SECY-85-227

**Summary:** On May 29, 1987, the Commission published in the Federal Register a proposed rule to specify the particular procedures applicable to informal adjudicatory hearings. 52 Fed. Reg. 20089 (1987). Under the proposed rule, interested persons, including license applicants, who request a hearing concerning a nonenforcement materials licensing action would be provided an opportunity to submit written presentations outlining their concerns. Oral presentations to the presiding officer would only be permitted upon a finding that the presentation is necessary to create an adequate decisionmaking record and would be under the direction of the presiding officer. There would be no discovery by the parties in such proceedings and no free-ranging cross-examination of witnesses. Twelve comments were received on the proposed rule. The attached draft Federal Register notice, which sets forth the Commission's responses to those comments, would adopt a final rule that is substantially unchanged from the proposed rule.

**Discussion:** The Commission's authority to provide an informal adjudication in materials licensing proceedings to satisfy an interested person's

**Contact:**  
Martin G. Malsch, OGC  
x21740

right to a "hearing" under Atomic Energy Act section 189a, 42 U.S.C. § 2239(a), first gained judicial acceptance in City of West Chicago v. NRC, 701 F.2d 632 (7th Cir. 1983). In contrast to its explicit provisions relating to formal, trial-type hearings, the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA") does not provide guidance on what type of procedures are appropriate for an informal adjudication. As a result, the agency had latitude to experiment to determine what type of procedures would best fulfill its responsibility to provide a "hearing" while ensuring that the proceeding was conducted fairly and efficiently. On the basis of the experience gained from conducting a half-dozen informal hearings, in 1987 a proposed rule was published in the Federal Register to establish procedures governing all informal materials licensing hearing proceedings.

Materials licensees, industry groups or attorneys representing materials licensees, public interest groups, a local governmental entity, and an individual member of the public sent a total of twelve letters commenting on the proposed rule. Seven of the commenters expressed general support for the proposed rule. Three commenters opposed the rule as providing insufficient procedural protections for intervening parties. Two other commenters opposed the rule as unnecessarily formalizing the hearing process. The attached proposed Federal Register Notice contains a detailed discussion of the various comments. (Attachment 1) We also have attached a line-in, line-out version of the final rule showing the changes that have been made to the text of the regulations in response to the comments. (Attachment 2)

The following are the major issues of concern expressed by the commenters:

1. Notice of Materials Licensing  
Actions/Timing of Hearing Requests

The issue of whether the agency's present practice of providing published public notice only for "significant" materials licensing actions conforms to the requirements of the Atomic Energy Act and constitutional due process

was raised by two of the public interest groups and the local governmental entity, the County of Suffolk, Long Island, New York. Some five years ago, the Office of the General Counsel and the then-Office of the Executive Legal Director provided the Commission with legal arguments about whether, given the section 189a right of interested persons to a hearing on any materials licensing action, Federal Register or some other type of public notice is necessary with regard to all materials licensing actions. At that time, the Commission decided that the existing notice practice should continue. The final rule reflects that earlier Commission direction and the staff's very strong policy preference to continue with present practice. Accordingly, the Statement of Considerations essentially reiterates the legal and policy/resource arguments made in the proposed rule in favor of the present notice practice. Nevertheless the Commission should be aware that existing practice and the final rule entail significant litigative risk because of this issue. We are prepared to reconsider the approach in the final rule if the Commission so desires.

A related issue raised by one commenter as well as in comments provided on the draft final rule by the Chairman of the Appeal Panel is whether, in instances when a Federal Register notice is published relative to a materials licensing action, the notice<sup>1</sup> must apprise interested persons of their section 189a hearing rights in order to constitute constructive notice that begins the period for filing a timely hearing request. Under present staff practice, the Federal Register notice most often published relating to materials licensing actions is a "no significant impact" finding resulting from the preparation of an environmental assessment for proposed actions under 10 C.F.R. § 51.21.<sup>1</sup> E.g., 53 Fed. Reg. 37662 (Sept. 27, 1988) (finding of

---

<sup>1</sup> Sometimes a notice on the availability of the application and of intent to prepare an environmental assessment precedes a notice of a "no significant impact" finding. Compare 50 Fed. Reg. 1548 (Jan. 14, 1985) (notice of receipt of application to operate low-level waste volume reduction facility with 51 Fed. Reg. 9729 (Mar. 20, 1986) (no significant impact finding for the same volume reduction facility).

no significant impact regarding renewal of Part 40 license). These notices, published under 10 CFR §§ 51.35 and 51.119, state where additional information relative to the assessment can be obtained, but make no mention of section 189a hearing rights.

The final rule would make the first Federal Register notice relating to a material licensing action the trigger for the thirty day period for filing a timely hearing request. It would not mandate that the notice inform interested persons of their right to request a hearing. In responding to the public interest group's comment on this practice, the Statement of Considerations points out that an interested person's hearing rights are provided by statute, which is a matter of public record. The Commission should recognize, however, that as with the issue of whether notice must be provided at all for materials licensing actions, it is problematic whether notice without a reference to the right to request a hearing is sufficient to satisfy the requirements of due process and thereby trigger<sup>2</sup> the period for filing a timely hearing request.

Another issue in this area is the point at which an interested person's hearing rights can be terminated even if the individual has not had actual or constructive (i.e., Federal Register) notice of a materials licensing action. (There would be no problem with terminating hearing rights after a short period - say 30 days - if actual or constructive notice of hearing rights were given.) The proposed rule provided that if no notice is provided, interested persons have one year from the date of the licensing action within which to file a hearing request; after that time, hearing requests would only be granted on a showing of exceptional circumstances. Five commenters, who were either licensees or industry groups or attorneys representing licensees, asserted that the one-year period was too long to

---

<sup>2</sup>The Chairman of the Licensing Board Panel suggested that section 2.1203 relating to filing and service of documents be amended to allow for the use of electronic submissions. We believe such a proposal would be better implemented by a separate rulemaking that would provide consistent standards for such filings in both formal and informal proceedings.

leave the licensing action open to challenge. They declared there should be no hearing permitted after the cut-off date. Several also suggested that the cut-off be put at four months and that any request filed after that time should be treated as a petition under 10 C.F.R. § 2.206.

In light of the comments, we have decided to reduce to six months the period for filing hearing requests when there is no notice. We believe this period of time is not an inordinately long time for a licensee to have to face uncertainty over whether its authorization will be subject to challenge given that its authorization will not have been given any publicity. We do not, however, believe the suggestion that all hearing requests be precluded after that six-month period is a reasonable one. As we have noted previously, see SECY-85-227, at 8-9, it is questionable whether the agency can ever cut off a statutory hearing right when it has not given effective public notice of the licensing action that triggers that hearing right. If faced with a hearing request that was filed after a cut-off date imposed by rule, the agency's best argument is perhaps that it would not be equitable, given the time that has passed, to require that the licensing action be subject to challenge in a hearing. To embody that idea somewhat more clearly, we have substituted the equitable concept of "laches"<sup>3</sup> for the proposed standard of "exceptional circumstances" and required that the party wishing to have the hearing show that 1) the delay in filing the hearing request was excusable; and 2) the grant of a hearing will not cause undue prejudice to any party. Also, the final rule states that a late-filed hearing request that cannot meet this "laches" standard will be treated as a section 2.206 petition.

---

<sup>3</sup>"Laches" is a legal concept whereby certain kinds of legal claims are refused because the claimant has neglected to bring his claim within a reasonable time and the other party is prejudiced by the delay.

## 2. Oral Presentations

Several commenters raised concerns about the proposed rule's provision in section 2.1235 for oral presentations by the parties if the written presentations are insufficient to form the basis for a determination. The proposed rule stated that the presiding officer could either pose the questions or allow the parties to pose a question or line of questions that the presiding officer found appropriate. Several commenters suggested that this could give the parties too much latitude, essentially permitting cross-examination under a different guise.

The oral presentation is a valuable tool for the presiding officer in conducting the hearing. Instances undoubtedly will arise when written presentations, for whatever reason, cannot resolve all the issues. At that point, it would be appropriate to have oral argument or testimony by witnesses. However, as the Commission indicated in the Statement of Considerations supporting the proposed rule, this should be the exception. Unfortunately, the concept of a "hearing" almost inevitably engenders the idea of an opportunity at some point to make some kind of oral presentation. Upon further consideration, to act as an additional check upon the natural tendency of parties to request and presiding officers to hold "oral" hearings, we have redrafted the rule to provide that all questions for witnesses must be asked by the presiding officer. The parties are free to propose questions, but the ultimate decision on whether the question is asked and the responsibility for posing the question to a witness lies with the presiding officer. Not only does this eliminate any concerns about backdoor cross-examination, but provides an additional incentive to forego oral presentations unless they truly are necessary.

## 3. Appeal of Right to the Appeal Board

Two of the commenters vigorously questioned whether, as the proposed rule provided in sections 2.1253 to 2.1257, there should be an appeal to the Appeal Board from an initial

decision.<sup>4</sup> These commenters preferred the present system in which appellate review is limited to a Commission sua sponte review of the initial decision. We do not favor continuing the present system limited solely to Commission sua sponte review. On the whole, the Appeal Board is in a better position than the Commission to give each initial decision a thorough review to ensure that no legal or technical errors have been made that will lead to judicial reversal of the action or create significant health or safety problems. Further, allowing for Appeal Board review need not cause any delay in license issuance. The rule provides that the staff can take a licensing action at any time while the hearing is being conducted and, at the suggestion of one commenter, we also have added an immediate effectiveness provision that authorizes the staff, if it has not yet acted, to take the requested licensing action after a favorable initial decision. See §§ 2.1205(1), 2.1251(e)-(f). Consequently, we favor Appeal Board review with subsequent sua sponte Commission review, as the proposed final rule provides.

The Appeal Board, the Licensing Board, the Office of Nuclear Materials Safety and Safeguards, and the Division of Freedom of Information and Publications Services, ARM, reviewed the draft final rule. With a few editorial exceptions their comments are incorporated in this proposed final rule.

**Recommendation:**


1. Authorize the Secretary to issue the final rule amending 10 C.F.R. Part 2.
2. Note that:
  - a. The final rule will become effective thirty days after publication in the Federal Register.

---

<sup>4</sup>In her comments on the draft final rule, the Appeal Board Chairman suggested that the term "initial decision" was a term-of-art usually associated with formal APA procedures, see 5 U.S.C. § 557, and should be changed. We find the term useful as a recognized designation for the presiding officer's merits decision as opposed to appellate decisions by the Commission or

(Footnote Continued)

- b. The final rule contains the requisite Regulatory Flexibility Act certification.
- c. The final rule contains no information collection requirements and therefore is not subject to the Paperwork Reduction Act.
- d. The final rule comes within the categorical exclusion in 10 C.F.R. § 51.22(c)(1) and no environmental assessment has been prepared.
- e. A regulatory analysis regarding the final rule is included in the Statement of Considerations.
- f. The final rule does not require a backfit analysis pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 50.109(c).
- g. The Subcommittee on Nuclear Regulation of the Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works, the Subcommittee on Energy and the Environment of the House Interior and Insular Affairs Committee, and the Subcommittee on Energy and Power of the House Energy and Commerce Committee will be informed of the final rule by letter from the Office of Congressional Affairs.
- h. A public announcement will be issued when the final rule is filed with the Office of the Federal Register.

  
 William C. Parler  
 General Counsel

Attachments:  
 As stated

---

(Footnote Continued)

Appeal Board. Moreover, in the context of this rule, we believe this term's use is adequately qualified so that there will be no confusion. See § 2.1251(a).



Commissioners' comments or consent should be provided directly to the Office of the Secretary by c.o.b. Monday, January 23, 1989.

Commission Staff Office comments, if any, should be submitted to the Commissioners NLT Friday, January 13, 1989, with an information copy to the Office of the Secretary. If the paper is of such a nature that it requires additional time for analytical review and comment, the Commissioners and the Secretariat should be apprised of when comments may be expected.

This paper is tentatively scheduled for affirmation at an Open Meeting during the Week of January 23, 1989. Please refer to the appropriate Weekly Commission Schedule, when published, for a specific date and time.

DISTRIBUTION:

Commissioners

OGC

OI

OIA

GPA

REGIONAL OFFICES

EDO

ACRS

ACNW

ASLBP

ASLAP

SECY

**Attachment 1**

NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

10 CFR Part 2

Informal Hearing Procedures for  
Materials Licensing Adjudications

AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

ACTION: Final rule.

SUMMARY: The Nuclear Regulatory Commission is amending its regulations to provide rules of procedure for the conduct of informal adjudicatory hearings in materials licensing proceedings. The Atomic Energy Act of 1954 requires that the NRC, in any proceeding for the granting, suspending, revoking, or amending of an NRC license, including a license involving source, byproduct, and special nuclear materials, afford an interested person, upon request, a "hearing." The Commission previously has determined that the "hearing" provided for a materials licensing proceeding need not encompass all the procedures in NRC regulations that govern formal adjudications for the licensing of reactor facilities. Rather, the Commission has determined that, in most instances, an informal hearing with an opportunity to present written views is sufficient to fulfill this requirement. The final rule prescribes the procedures that would govern these informal proceedings.

EFFECTIVE DATE: Insert date 30 days after date of publication in the FEDERAL REGISTER.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul Bollwerk, Senior Attorney, Office of the General Counsel, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555, Telephone: (301) 492-1634.

## SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

## I. Background

On May 29, 1987 (52 FR 20089-20096), the Nuclear Regulatory Commission published in the Federal Register proposed amendments to its Rules of Practice (10 CFR Part 2) that would specify the particular procedures applicable to informal adjudicatory hearings. In accordance with section 189a of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (AEA) (42 U.S.C. 2239(a)), informal hearings are conducted upon the request of any person whose interest may be affected by a nuclear materials licensing proceeding. Kerr-McGee Corp. (West Chicago Rare Earths Facility), CLI-82-2, 15 NRC 232 (1982), aff'd sub nom. City of West Chicago v. NRC, 701 F.2d 632 (7th Cir. 1983) [both hereinafter referred to as West Chicago]. On July 24, 1987, the date for submitting comments on the proposed rule was extended to August 28, 1987 (52 FR 27821).

As proposed, the informal hearing procedures differ substantially from the existing regulations in 10 CFR Part 2, Subpart G that govern the conduct of NRC formal, trial-type adjudications. Specifically, the presiding officer is to receive and to make his or her determination based solely upon a "hearing file" compiled by the NRC staff, which need not be a party to the proceeding, and written presentations by the parties. There would be no discovery. Only if the presiding officer found that the written presentations were insufficient to create an adequate record would oral presentations be permitted. Any examination of those making oral presentations would be limited strictly by the presiding officer. The type of cross-examination by the parties that generally is permitted in formal adjudications would be prohibited. Essentially, the

informal hearing is designed to elicit information and resolve issues primarily through inquiry by the presiding officer rather than through an adversarial confrontation between the parties. As a consequence, the presiding officer has broad discretion in controlling the manner in which the issues raised by the parties are to be explored.

## II. Comments and Commission Responses

The Commission received twelve letters of comment representing a broad spectrum of interested parties. Commenters included private corporations that hold NRC materials licenses, a trade association representing companies holding NRC materials licenses, private counsel that represent NRC reactor and materials licensees, public interest groups, a local governmental entity, and an individual member of the public. Seven of the commenters expressed general support for the proposed rules and provided specific comments and suggestions on particular provisions. Three commenters opposed the rules as providing insufficient procedural protections for intervening parties. Two other commenters opposed the rules as unnecessarily formalizing the hearing process for materials licensing adjudications. A review of the specific comments and the Commission's responses to those comments follows.

## A. General Comments

### 1. Hearing Procedures Are Too Formal

Several commenters who are materials licensees or who represent materials licensees expressed concern that the proposed informal procedures were unnecessary or too formal. One commenter suggested that, given the small number of materials licensing hearing requests received by the Commission over the past several years, the Commission need only continue its present practice. That practice, which has been in effect since the first informal hearing in the 1982 West Chicago proceeding, is to issue an order in response to each materials licensing hearing request that establishes the procedures governing that informal hearing. The Commission disagrees. Its practice of issuing individual orders has allowed the agency to gain valuable practical experience in conducting informal adjudications, experience that is reflected in the provisions of this final rule. The small number of hearing requests explains in part the delay in the Commission's promulgation of this final rule in that it has taken longer to gain the relevant experience that has guided it in formulating appropriate procedures. However, it ultimately is not a sufficient counterweight to the correct observation of the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in its West Chicago decision, 701 F.2d at 645, that the interests of all concerned in the hearing process are better served if the agency formulates regulations that make it clear what procedures will apply to all informal proceedings. This is particularly so given the large number of materials licensing actions the Commission takes each year that potentially are subject to hearing requests.

This commenter also asserted that the proposed informal procedures should not be adopted because the adjudicatory format is not suited to the resolution of technical questions and, in any event, the existence of two sets of procedures, one for informal proceedings and one for formal proceedings, inevitably will lead intervenors to complain that their allegations require the use of the more extensive formal procedures. Regarding the issue of the suitability of "adjudicatory" procedures, the commenter appears to be questioning the advisability of using a trial-type, adversary format, as opposed to more legislative-type, informal procedures, to resolve technical disputes. In its proposed rule, however, the Commission has sought to strike a necessary balance between these two poles. Recognizing that interested persons within the meaning of AEA section 189a are statutorily afforded the status of "parties" with a right to participate in a hearing,<sup>1/</sup> the rules allow participation though written and, in limited circumstances, oral submissions by which a challenged licensing action can be supported or opposed. On the other hand, cognizant that these materials licensing hearings need not adhere to the Administrative Procedure Act's (APA) adversary trial model set forth in the formal hearing provisions of 5 U.S.C. 556-557, the Commission has attempted to enhance the role of the presiding officer as a technical factfinder/dispute resolver by giving him or her the primary responsibility for controlling the development of the hearing record beyond the initial submissions of the parties. Further, the Commission does not believe that the mere existence of a

---

<sup>1/</sup> Because an interested person has a statutory right to request and receive a hearing on those materials licensing actions specified in AEA section 189a, the Commission cannot, as one licensee appeared to suggest, simply decline to convene any materials licensing hearings.

set of informal procedures will lead to an erosion of the distinction between formal and informal proceedings or lead to undue confusion about when the use of either type of proceeding is appropriate. See generally Sequoyah Fuels Corp. (Sequoyah UF6 to UF4 Facility), CLI-86-17, 24 NRC 489 (1986) (Commission declines to accept presiding officer's suggestion to convert informal hearing to formal proceeding).

## 2. Hearing Procedures are Too Informal

In contrast to the comments discussed above, several individuals and public interest groups asserted that the Commission's proposed informal procedures were too "informal." In particular, these commenters decried the failure of the rules to provide for discovery or for wide-ranging cross-examination by parties to the proceeding.

Parties generally have no right to discovery even in APA "on the record" hearings, unless discovery procedures are authorized by agency regulations. Further, because the Commission is not required to conduct an APA "on the record" hearing in a materials licensing case, the parties in these cases have no right to cross-examination under the Commission's "on the record" hearing procedures in 10 CFR Part 2, Subpart G. Nor does the Commission believe these measures are necessary to afford the parties a full and fair hearing. Although there is no discovery, the proposed rules do provide that the NRC staff is to create and update a hearing file consisting of the materials relevant to the licensing proceeding, including the application and any amendments to the application, any environmental assessment or impact statement, and any NRC report or correspondence between the NRC and the applicant relating to the



application. In addition, if an oral presentation is found by the presiding officer to be the appropriate factfinding vehicle, the presiding officer is given the authority to pose to witnesses questions that have been suggested by the parties. This is not the type of cross-examination usually associated with formal adjudicatory proceedings, as is described in more detail in the discussion that follows; nonetheless, it still provides the parties in the context of this more informal proceeding with an opportunity to raise questions with the presiding officer about a witness' testimony.

B. Comments Relating to Specific Provisions of the Proposed Rule

1. Proposed § 2.1201 -- Scope of Proceeding

One commenter has raised two concerns about § 2.1201 of the proposed rule, which describes those materials licensing actions for which informal hearings are provided. This commenter pointed out that in previous instances involving a request under 10 CFR 20.302 for agency approval of proposed procedures for the disposal of very low-level radioactive waste not covered by 10 CFR Part 61, the Commission has authorized the use of informal hearing procedures and suggested this does not appear to be covered by proposed § 2.1201. An authorization under § 20.302, which is not referred to specifically in § 2.1201, generally comes about as an amendment to an existing byproduct, source, or special nuclear material license issued under Parts 30, 40, or 70. As an amendment for authorization to dispose of materials held under an existing materials licenses, rather than a request for a license to operate a waste disposal facility under 10 CFR Part 61, this authorization clearly falls within § 2.1201. The same would be true of various other Part 20

authorizations, which relate to a license issued under Parts 30, 40, or 70.

E.g., 20.105(a). Accordingly, no specific reference is required in § 2.1201 to cover these authorizations.

This commenter also suggested this provision is too broad because it states that formal hearing procedures are applicable to those adjudications instituted in response to a notice of proposed action issued under 10 CFR 2.105(a)(7) for "any other license or amendment as to which the Commission determines that an opportunity for a public hearing should be afforded."

However, as the Commission's West Chicago decision makes clear, the notice of proposed hearing referenced in § 2.105(a)(7) is one that is issued when the Commission has determined the public interest requires a formal hearing.

West Chicago, 15 NRC at 244-46. Accordingly, the provision correctly reflects that hearings commenced in response to a notice of proposed action issued under § 2.105(a)(7) will, in accordance with § 2.700, be conducted under the formal hearing procedures of Subpart G.

## 2. Proposed § 2.1203 -- Docket, filing, and service

Section 2.1203 establishes the administrative requirements for the docket and the filing and service of documents in each proceeding. One commenter recommended that the rule set out requirements for documents in terms of size, signatures, numbers of copies, etc. A new paragraph (c) implements this suggestion. The provisions of § 2.711 relating to the extension and reduction of time limits are referenced in paragraph (d).

This commenter also suggested that this section incorporate the requirements of § 2.712 relating to service of documents. The proposed

§ 2.1203(d), which leaves it up to the presiding officer in the first instance to set any rules for service of documents, was intended to add to the informality of the proceedings. After further consideration, however, the Commission concludes that establishing rules for routine matters such as document service contributes to the efficient conduct of the proceeding for both the parties and the presiding officer. Accordingly, the Commission has added language to that paragraph, which is now designated as (e), referencing the requirements of § 2.712.

3. Proposed § 2.1205 -- Request for a hearing;  
petition for leave to intervene

This provision, which describes how a request for a hearing or a petition to intervene is to be lodged and treated by the agency, was the subject of a number of comments that are discussed below according to subject matter.

a. Notice of Materials Licensing Actions/Timing of Hearing  
Requests

In the proposed rule, the Commission described its long-standing practice of limiting Federal Register notice for the thousands of material licensing applications it receives annually to those that are significant. For those applications for which no Federal Register notice is published, proposed § 2.1205(c) provided that a hearing petition would be considered timely if filed within thirty days after the petitioner receives actual notice of a licensing action or within one year after completion of the agency action, whichever occurs first. Section 2.1205(c) also declared any petition filed beyond this period would be considered timely only upon a showing of exceptional circumstances. In response, several commenters asserted that the

agency's notice practice was improper and urged that Federal Register notice be given for each materials license application received. Other commenters, principally materials licensees or their legal counsel, challenged the provisions allowing timely hearing petitions to be filed up to one year after the licensing action and permitting subsequent petitions upon an "exceptional circumstances" showing. Allowing up to one year to file a challenge leaves licensed activities under an unnecessary cloud, they assert. Instead, the period for filing should be shortened to 120 days or less. Also, they contend, the exceptional circumstances provision should be deleted in favor of a provision that mandates that after the period for filing a petition expires the appropriate challenge to a licensing action is to file a petition for enforcement or other appropriate relief under 10 CFR 2.206.

The Commission continues to believe that its present practice regarding Federal Register notice for materials licensing applications comports with all applicable legal requirements and, under the circumstances, is appropriate in terms of the allocation of agency resources. As noted in the proposed rule, the Atomic Energy Act does not require that any notice be given of a materials licensing action. Given the lack of any constitutional right to a hearing in the usual materials licensing case, see City of West Chicago, 701 F.2d at 645, the Commission does not agree with the argument that there is a general constitutional right to notice of the opportunity for such a hearing. <sup>2/</sup>

Further, the publication of notices for all materials licensing activities cannot be justified as a judicious use of limited agency resources. Under

---

<sup>2/</sup> As explained below, notice is given of those particular materials licensing actions that are more significant.

present practice, notice is given of significant materials licensing actions through a Federal Register notice relating to the receipt of the application or to NRC environmental findings relating to the licensing request (e.g., a negative declaration of the need to prepare an environmental impact statement). Also, those persons truly interested in a particular materials licensee's activities can keep abreast of pending matters by periodically contacting appropriate NRC headquarters or regional personnel for information concerning the license. With these vehicles in place for providing the public with information concerning materials licensing actions, the Commission does not believe it is necessary or prudent to expend the substantial additional agency resources that would be needed to publish notices in the Federal Register for each of the approximately five thousand materials licensing actions the agency takes on average every year. See NRC 1987 Annual Report at 73. In addition to the staff resources that would be required to prepare the notices, the NRC staff estimates that it would cost in excess of one hundred thousand dollars annually simply to pay the cost of publishing notices in the Federal Register for all these actions. The Commission also finds the alternative notice suggestion made by one commenter unacceptable. Similar or higher costs to the agency could be expected if the agency published notices in local newspapers.

On the related question of the timing of a hearing request when there is no Federal Register notice, the Commission agrees with the comments that a lesser period of time may be appropriate for accepting hearing requests as timely. Balancing the interests of materials licensees in prompt closure for potential licensing action challenges against the public interest in allowing a reasonable opportunity for "interested persons" to avail themselves of their section 189a hearing right, we find that allowing an initial hearing request to

be filed for a period of six months after a materials licensing action not noticed in the Federal Register is appropriate.

The Commission does not agree with the comment that any hearing request or petition to intervene filed after the six month period should be treated only as a petition under 10 CFR 2.206. In determining under what circumstances the agency will entertain a late-filed petition, consideration undoubtedly must be given to the fact that the hearing provisions in the Atomic Energy Act suggest a congressional policy fostering a degree of citizen participation in specified types of nuclear licensing proceedings. See Long Island Lighting Co. (Shoreham Nuclear Power Station, Unit 1), ALAB-743, 18 NRC 387, 396 n.37 (1983). On the other hand, it is apparent that whether to provide for further admission of late-filed petitions and the terms under which they will be admitted ultimately is a matter committed to the agency's discretion.

In most instances, materials licensing actions do not involve substantial hazards to public health and safety. After weighing the matter carefully, we have concluded that, in the context of materials licensing, considerations of regulatory finality counsel that the Commission place a heavy burden upon those who wish to institute a hearing proceeding more than six months after the agency has approved the applicant's request for licensing action. Therefore, to avoid the litigation of stale claims, in lieu of the reference in § 2.1205(c) to the grant of a late-filed initial hearing petition on a showing of "exceptional circumstances" and the language of § 2.1205(k) that provided for the use of the formal hearing late-filed petition factors in § 2.714(a)(1), the Commission has substituted new language in § 2.1205(k). The paragraph now states that to gain admission of a late-filed request, whether an initial request or a petition to intervene, the requestor or intervenor will have the

heavier burden of establishing that (1) the delay in filing the hearing request or intervention petition was excusable; and (2) the grant of the hearing request or intervention petition, which institutes a hearing proceeding to explore the efficacy of the agency's licensing action, will not cause undue prejudice or injury to any participant to the proceeding, including the applicant and the NRC staff if the staff chooses to be a party. Essentially, the paragraph requires that the requestor or petitioner demonstrate that the well-established doctrine of "laches" would not bar the institution of a proceeding. Additionally, this provision has been revised to state that any untimely hearing request or intervention petition that cannot overcome this laches bar will be referred for disposition in accordance with 10 CFR 2.206.

Also on the subject of notice, one commenter suggested that the Commission clarify the meaning of § 2.1205(c)(1) to make it clear that the first Federal Register notice relating to a materials license application, including a notice about activities under the National Environmental Policy Act, triggers the thirty-day period within which a hearing request must be filed in order to be timely. The Commission has done so. The Commission would add that, contrary to the suggestion of one commenter, it does not believe it is necessary for that notice to state that the opportunity for a hearing exists with respect to the materials licensing action because section 189a, the statutory provision that is the basis of an interested person's hearing right, makes that clear.

In addition, this commenter requested that the provisions of § 2.1205(c)(2) concerning "actual notice" be changed to indicate that timeliness determinations will be based on whether the petitioner either knew or should have known of the pending licensing application or action. A finding that the petitioner should have known would be based upon such factors as

newspaper accounts. The Commission declines to adopt this suggestion. If a Federal Register notice has not been published, a determination about whether and when a petitioner otherwise had actual notice should be based upon the petitioner's particular factual situation rather than presumptions about what other than Federal Register publication provides constructive notice, as the commenter seems to contemplate. Moreover, to aid in making that determination the Commission has, as the same commenter suggested, provided in paragraph (d) to this section that the request for a hearing should detail the circumstances that establish, in accordance with paragraph (c), that the request is timely. With that information, as well as any answer from the applicant or the NRC staff (if it participates as a party), and any additional information requested from the participants, a presiding officer should be able to make an informed determination about when a petitioner (which in the case of partnership, corporation, or unincorporated association would include its directors, officers, and any members duly authorized to represent it) had actual notice. We note that under § 2.1205(j) the additional requirement of a showing of timeliness also would ordinarily apply to those seeking to intervene pursuant to a Federal Register notice of hearing. These intervenors would ordinarily have to show that they did not have actual notice of the licensing action prior to the notice of hearing.

b. Standing

Paragraph (g) of proposed § 2.1205 states that in determining whether a particular petitioner has standing to participate in an informal adjudication, the presiding officer is to consider whether the judicial standard for standing is met. The presiding officer's determination is to be based upon the



standards that are enunciated in § 2.714 for formal adjudications. The Commission indicated that the standing decision should be based upon an analysis of the particular material that was the subject of the licensing action and not the "fifty-mile radius" rule that had developed with respect to power reactor licensing proceedings. (52 FR at 20090). Several commenters agreed with the Commission's rejection of the fifty-mile standard for materials licensing. One commenter went on to suggest that instead the Commission should create a presumption that anyone residing (and presumably working) outside of a five-mile radius of the site where the nuclear materials in question are possessed does not have standing. The Commission rejects this suggestion. The standing of a petitioner in each case should be determined based upon the circumstances of that case as they relate to the factors set forth in paragraph (g).

#### c. Litigation Subject Matter

At the suggestion of a commenter, the Commission has added language to paragraph (g) indicating that in addition to making a standing determination with respect to granting a hearing petition or, by reason of its incorporation in paragraph (j), an intervention petition, the presiding officer should rule upon whether the petitioner desires to litigate matters that are germane to the proceeding and whether the hearing request is timely. Further in this regard, to clarify exactly what information a petitioner must supply in its hearing or intervention request, the Commission has revised paragraph (d) to state that the petitioner must provide a concise statement of the areas of concern the requestor desires to raise at the hearing. This statement of concerns need not be extensive, but it must be sufficient to establish that the issues the

requester wants to raise regarding the licensing action fall generally within the range of matters that properly are subject to challenge in such a proceeding.

d. Intervention

Section 2.1205(i) of the proposed rule states that if a request for a hearing was granted and no previous Federal Register notice has been published, a notice of hearing is to be put in the Federal Register that, among other things, will indicate that any additional hearing requests relating to the licensing proceeding should be filed within thirty days. One commenter has suggested that this should be changed simply to a reference to paragraph (c) of the same section, which provides for the filing of hearing requests, so as not to "encourage" additional hearing demands. The Commission disagrees with this comment because it misconstrues the purpose of this provision. In instances when a Federal Register notice previously has not been issued relating to a materials licensing action, once a hearing request regarding that action has been received and granted, it is in the agency's interest to ensure that only one proceeding need be conducted. The purpose of this provision is to provide constructive notice to all interested persons of the date by which any further hearing requests must be filed, thereby cutting off any intervenor's later assertion of timeliness based upon lack of actual notice.

Citing previous Licensing Board practice in individual informal proceedings, see, e.g., 51 FR 8920; March 14, 1986, one commenter also suggested that the rules provide the presiding officer with the authority to require that a petition to intervene must include particular information on the intervenor's concerns about the materials licensing action, like that required

by § 2.1233 for the intervenor's written presentation. This type of requirement likely is not practicable under the present regulatory scheme. Under the Licensing Board's practice (which the comments of this and other commenters regarding the creation of a hearing file make it apparent they disliked), the applicant was responsible for assembling a hearing file and making it available to potential intervenors "immediately" upon the receipt of the notice granting an initial hearing request. As the Licensing Board's notices make clear, immediate action was necessary to allow additional intervenors to file a detailed petition/initial written presentation within thirty days. 51 FR at 8921. As is discussed infra, the present scheme gives the NRC staff the duty of compiling the hearing file within thirty days of the grant of an initial hearing request, the same period of time within which any intervenor must file a petition. It would not be equitable to require an intervenor to file its written presentation setting forth all its concerns without access to the hearing file. Of course, the intervenor is required to identify the areas of concern it wishes to raise in the proceeding, which will provide the presiding officer with the minimal information needed to ensure the intervenor desires to litigate issues germane to the licensing proceeding and therefore should be allowed to take the additional step of making a full written presentation under § 2.1233.

e. Staff Licensing Action During Pendency of a Hearing

In explaining its proposed rule, the Commission declared that after weighing the private and governmental rights involved, it concluded it would not require the completion of any requested hearing before the NRC staff could take the licensing action requested by the applicant. Section 2.1205(1)

memorializes this determination. Although one commenter questioned this conclusion, the Commission continues to believe that it has struck the appropriate balance, particularly since a process has been provided in § 2.1263 whereby the staff's action can be stayed, if appropriate.

Another commenter declared that the Commission should revise the language of paragraph (1) to indicate that the staff, rather than "need not" delay in issuing the license, is obligated to proceed in the absence of a stay. The Commission declines to adopt this suggestion. The purpose of this provision is to indicate that in the face of a hearing request it was permissible for the staff to proceed to act in a particular proceeding if, in its judgment, the action was appropriate. As indicated previously, the Commission certainly contemplates that when the staff is able to reach a positive conclusion about the safety and environmental consequences of a proposed licensing request, it will take action despite a pending hearing request. The determination about whether or not it is appropriate to proceed with a particular licensing action prior to the conclusion of the proceeding before the presiding officer is left to the NRC staff, based on its technical and administrative judgment.

#### 4. Proposed § 2.1209 -- Presiding Officer's Powers

One commenter questioned whether two of the powers afforded presiding officers by § 2.1209 are appropriate. The first of these is the power under paragraph (d) to certify issues to the Appeal Board. We have concluded it is, for the reasons discussed more fully infra. The other is the power to subpoena documents or witnesses afforded by paragraph (h). This is improper, the commenter declares, because it would invite discovery requests. The Commission does not agree. The purpose of this provision is to make it clear that the

presiding officer has the authority under AEA section 161c, 42 U.S.C. 2201(c), to issue a subpoena for documents or witnesses if, in the course of conducting the proceeding, he or she determines that the information is necessary for the full and fair exploration of the issues involved and finds that the information will not be supplied voluntarily. The issuance of such an order is solely within the power and discretion of the presiding officer. Therefore, contrary to the commenter's suggestion, there is no need for the procedures that govern subpoena requests as in formal hearings.

#### 5. Proposed § 2.1211 -- Nonparty Participation

As in formal hearings, the Commission has provided for nonparty participation in informal adjudications by "interested" state and local governments and by limited appearance statements for interested groups and individuals. One commenter protested that the statement in § 2.1211(a) that "[a] limited appearance statement is not to be considered part of the decisional record" is evidence of the undue restraints being placed upon public participation in informal adjudications compared to formal hearings. This language, however, is merely a restatement of the practice followed in formal proceedings with respect to limited appearance statements.

Other commenters suggested that paragraph (b) concerning participation by interested state and local governments be revised to include a standing requirement and to mandate that these entities request permission to participate within thirty days of the grant of a hearing request. The Commission declines to adopt the first suggestion. As in formal adjudications under § 2.715(c), there is no formal "standing" requirement for "interested state" participation in informal hearings; those state and local governmental

entities that can demonstrate a cognizable interest in the licensing proceeding should be allowed to participate under § 2.1211(b). See Exxon Nuclear Co. (Nuclear Fuel Recovery and Recycling Center), ALAB-447, 6 NRC 873 (1977).

On the other hand, as Commission precedent relating to formal proceedings suggests, interested governmental entities that do seek to come into a proceeding generally must comply with any rules relating to timely intervention. See Cleveland Electric Illuminating Co. (Perry Nuclear Power Plant, Units 1 & 2), CLI-86-20, 24 NRC 518 (1986). As a consequence, the Commission has added language to § 2.1211(b) declaring that in instances in which Federal Register notice has been given under § 2.1205(c)(1), a request for § 2.1211(b) participation must be filed within thirty days of an order granting a request for a hearing. Alternatively, if no notice has been issued, the request for participation must be filed within thirty days of the notice of hearing issued under § 2.1205(i). By adding these specific provisions relating to the time of § 2.1211(b) participation requests, the Commission intends to ensure that all § 2.1211(b) participants become involved in the proceeding from its inception, thereby maximizing their participation while minimizing the possibility for later delay.

#### 6. Proposed § 2.1231 -- Hearing File

Unique to the informal proceeding is the hearing file that is required by § 2.1231. That file is to be compiled by the NRC staff and provided to the presiding officer, the applicant, and all parties and § 2.1211(b) participants to the proceeding. It is to consist of the application for licensing action and any amendment to the application; any NRC safety, environmental, or other reports relating to the application; and any relevant correspondence between

the NRC and the applicant. Commenters raised questions about how and when the file is to be made available to those involved in the proceeding and about the protections that would be afforded to proprietary and other sensitive information that documents in the file might contain.

The Commission previously has addressed one commenter's observation that providing the NRC staff thirty days to prepare and make the file available will impinge on the existing Licensing Board practice of requiring a joint intervention petition/initial written presentation. See II.B.3.d. supra. The thirty-day period is retained, subject to adjustment by the presiding officer as the circumstances of a particular case may require.

This commenter also questioned whether the requirement to make the hearing file "available" to parties and § 2.1211(b) participants would mandate that the NRC staff serve the file upon them, with the attendant costs in instances when the file is large. The proposed rule did envision that service of the file might be one way to make it available, depending on the size of the file. As the commenter points out, another way would be to make it available locally. To clarify what is meant by "available," we have revised paragraph (a) to make it clear that service upon the parties and § 2.1211(b) participants and local availability are alternative means of fulfilling this requirement. Which method the NRC staff chooses undoubtedly will depend on the circumstances of the proceeding.

This commenter also expressed strong reservations about the proposed rule's requirement that the applicant would be responsible for making the file publicly available locally. After careful consideration we have decided to shift this responsibility to the NRC staff, with the understanding that if this "availability" option is chosen, the file need be maintained only through the

end of the licensing proceeding. And, if the staff chooses to use service as the means of making the file available to participants in the proceeding, requests for the file by other members of the public do not require that arrangements for local availability must be made. Instead, these requests can be handled through the usual NRC process for making public documents available.

The matter of protecting proprietary and other sensitive information relating to a licensing action was raised by another commenter. Although the plain language of § 2.790 appears to cover this issue for materials licensing proceedings, to eliminate any ambiguity in this regard we have included a reference to that provision in § 2.1203(a).

#### 7. Proposed § 2.1233 -- Written presentations

An important difference between the informal hearing provided for in Subpart L and the formal proceeding conducted under Subpart G is the written presentation outlined in § 2.1233. The Commission contemplates that in the vast majority of cases these presentations and follow-up written questions, rather than an oral hearing before the presiding officer, will be the vehicle by which the parties and any § 2.1211(b) participants are heard and the issues resolved.

Commenter concerns about this provision centered on issues of timing, that is, when will written presentations be required to be submitted. Section 2.1233 as proposed stated that the timing and sequence of these presentations is to be set by the presiding officer after any notice of hearing and after the NRC staff has made the hearing file available to the parties. One commenter suggests that the provision be reworded to make it clear that an order establishing the schedule for written submissions may be issued before the end



of the thirty-day period that the staff has to make the hearing file available. The commenter repeats its plea that this is necessary to allow for the continuation of the Licensing Board practice of having intervention petitions include the information required for the initial written presentation. The Commission adopts the suggested wording change. As indicated previously, however, because the NRC staff rather than the applicant is now responsible for compiling and making available the hearing file, the Commission doubts that a joint intervention/written presentation filing will be appropriate in most instances. See II.B.3.d. supra.

In this regard, the Commission has not adopted the suggestion of another commenter that the rule contain language setting specific time frames within which an initial presentation and any reply thereto must be filed after the date the hearing file is made available. While the Commission endorses the concept that written presentations should be made as promptly as possible, the Commission continues to believe that the presiding officer will be in the best position to set a schedule based upon his or her review of the issues raised in each hearing petition. The Commission also cannot endorse this commenter's suggestion that language should be added that would direct that the submission of written presentations should not await the completion of any NRC staff safety or environmental analysis that is being prepared relative to the licensing application. Again, this is an issue best left to the discretion of the presiding officer. The Commission notes, however, that because the NRC staff can take a licensing action prior to the completion of a hearing on the application, any delay in the hearing that might be caused by awaiting a staff safety or environmental evaluation would not necessarily translate into a delay in license issuance.

Finally, one commenter suggested that specific language be added to paragraph (c) to indicate that applicants have the right to file a reply to the written presentation of those parties who challenge the requested licensing action. While the right of an applicant, as a party to the proceeding, to file a written presentation is implicit in the language of paragraph (a), the Commission has added additional language to that paragraph clarifying any ambiguity. The sequence and timing of that submission remains in the discretion of the presiding officer.

#### 8. Proposed § 2.1235 -- Oral presentations

In the event that the written presentations afforded by § 2.1233 and the responses to written questions posed by the presiding officer prove to be inadequate to resolve the issues raised, the presiding officer is given the discretion to allow or require the parties to make oral presentations. These presentations may include the testimony of witnesses. Commenters expressed concern that the language of § 2.1235 did not make clear the parameters under which oral presentations were to be allowed, particularly with respect to examination of witnesses by nonsponsoring parties. To clarify this matter, the Commission has included language in paragraph (a) stating that the responsibility for the examination of all witnesses rests with the presiding officer, who may allow parties to propose questions for the witness that the presiding officer can pose if the questions are found appropriate. The Commission recognizes that by requiring the presiding officer to make determinations about the propriety of each question for a witness, an additional burden is being imposed that could involve delay in the proceeding while the parties compose and the presiding officer decides the propriety of

questions for each witness. Nonetheless, because oral presentations should be necessary only in those rare instances in which the written presentations leave unresolved issues that the presiding officer finds can be decided only after having oral presentations, and because proposed questions undoubtedly can be prefiled in many instances, the Commission expects these procedural requirements to be manageable.

One other commenter questioned whether the language in paragraph (b) stating that "[a]ll oral presentations . . . , unless the presiding officer orders otherwise, must be public," is designed to give a presiding officer more latitude to hold nonpublic informal hearings than is provided for formal adjudications under Subpart G. In fact, there was no intention that this provision be substantively different from § 2.751, which governs formal hearings. To avoid any ambiguity, the Commission has added language to paragraph (b) to make it clear that this section parallels § 2.751.

#### 9. Proposed § 2.1251 -- Initial decision

Two commenters raised questions about § 2.1251, which specifies that after completion of the informal written and, if necessary, oral presentations, a presiding officer must render an initial decision, unless the Commission chooses to undertake that task itself by having the record certified to it. One commenter suggested that, as with § 2.764, there should be language making the initial decision immediately effective so as to authorize the NRC staff to take the appropriate licensing action. Section 2.1215(1), which authorizes the NRC staff to take a requested licensing action without regard to any pending hearing request, undoubtedly will provide the functional equivalent of an effectiveness provision in many instances. The possibility exists, however,

that the staff will not yet have taken any action or, if the staff has acted, the presiding officer's determination may include license conditions that were not imposed by the staff. In these instances, it would be appropriate for the presiding officer's decision to become immediately effective so as to authorize the staff to take the appropriate licensing action promptly. Accordingly, the Commission has added paragraphs (e) and (f) to § 2.1251 to indicate that the presiding officer's decision will be immediately effective, subject to any stay that might be sought and granted in accordance with § 2.1263.

A second commenter suggested that the time within which an initial decision will become final agency action, absent an appeal, should be thirty days rather than the forty-five days specified in the proposed rule. the Commission agrees with this proposal and paragraph (a) has been revised accordingly.

10. Proposed §§ 2.1253 -.1257 -- Agency Appellate Review of a Presiding Officer's Determination

Under §§ 2.1253 -.1257 of the proposed rule, parties and § 2.1211(b) participants to an informal adjudication would have an appeal as of right to the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, as they do under the existing practice for formal adjudications. Several commenters criticized this provision as bringing an unnecessary and overly formal step into the informal hearing process. One commenter recommended that any review be limited to Commission-conducted sua sponte consideration of the presiding officer's decision to determine whether there were any errors that require correction.

For those informal materials licensing hearing proceedings convened since the West Chicago proceeding, the only appellate review provided has been a

Commission sua sponte review of the presiding officer's decision, such as is suggested by the commenter. As a result of its experience in those proceedings, the Commission has concluded that the interest of all parties is better served if the Appeal Board is given the initial opportunity to consider any arguments concerning errors in a presiding officer's legal or factual findings relating to a particular licensing action. The Appeal Board, whose principal function is the review of adjudicatory records in formal licensing matters, generally is in as good a position as the Commission to provide a thorough, prompt, initial appellate review of individual informal adjudicatory decisions, as well as interlocutory certified questions, thereby freeing Commission resources for the consideration of broader policy matters relating to reactor facilities and materials licensees. As a result, the Commission has decided to retain Appeal Board initial review of presiding officer decision, subject thereafter to sua sponte Commission review.

#### C. Additional Comments

One commenter made two additional suggestions. The commenter suggested that the materials licensing rule contain a provision regarding burden of proof in the proceeding and a provision on motions procedures. The Commission has included a new § 2.1237 that would incorporate the appropriate provisions of Subpart G relating to these matters.

## Environmental Impact: Categorical Exclusion

The NRC has determined that this final rule is the type of action described in categorical exclusion 10 CFR 51.22(c)(1). Therefore, neither an environmental impact statement nor an environmental assessment has been prepared for this final rule.

## Paperwork Reduction Review

This final rule contains no information collection requirements and therefore is not subject to the requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980 (44 U.S.C. 3501 et. seq.).

## Regulatory Analysis

The Atomic Energy Act affords interested persons the right to a hearing regarding a materials licensing proceeding. As the Commission previously indicated in its decision in Kerr-McGee Corp., 15 NRC at 241, the use of informal procedures involves less cost and delay for parties and the Commission than the use of formal, trial-type procedures, the only other procedural alternative. Also, procedures must be in place to allow for the orderly conduct of those adjudications. Codifying the informal hearing procedures for materials licensing proceedings is preferable to the only other alternative, which is the present practice of establishing the procedures to be followed on a case-by-case basis. By codifying the procedures, the Commission will avoid the expenditure of time and resources necessary to prepare the individual

orders that previously have been used to designate those procedures. It thus is apparent that this final rule is the preferred alternative and the cost entailed in its promulgation and application is necessary and appropriate. The foregoing discussion constitutes the regulatory analysis for this final rule.

#### Regulatory Flexibility Certification

The final rule will not have a significant economic impact upon a substantial number of small entities. Many materials licensees or intervenors fall within the definition of small businesses found in section 34 of the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. 632, or the Small Business Size Standards set out in regulations issued by the Small Business Administration at 13 CFR Part 121, or the NRC's size standards published December 9, 1985 (50 FR 50241). While the final rule would reduce the litigation cost burden upon licensees or intervenors because of the informal nature of the hearing, the requirement that they submit filings and documentary information detailing contested legal and factual issues is still required. Some cost reduction in comparison to the cost of participating in a formal adjudicatory hearing can be anticipated, although it is problematic whether that reduction as a whole will be significant. Certainly, the use of informal procedures will not increase significantly the burden upon licensees to respond to hearing requests. Thus, in accordance with the Regulatory Flexibility Act, 5 U.S.C. 605(b), the NRC certifies that this rule does not have a significant economic impact upon a substantial number of small entities.

## Backfit Analysis

This final rule does not modify or add to systems, structure, components, or design of a facility; the design approval or manufacturing license for a nuclear reactor facility; or the procedures or organization required to design, construct, or operate a facility. Accordingly, no backfit analysis pursuant to 10 CFR 50.109(c) is required for this final rule.

### List of Subjects in 10 CFR Part 2

Part 2 - Administrative practice and procedure, Antitrust, Byproduct material, Classified information, Environmental protection, Nuclear Materials, Nuclear power plants and reactors, Penalty, Sex Discrimination, Source Material, Special Nuclear Material, Waste treatment and disposal.

For the reasons set out in the preamble and under the authority of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended, and 5 U.S.C. 552 and 553, the NRC is adopting the following amendments to 10 CFR Part 2:



## PART 2 -- RULES OF PRACTICE FOR DOMESTIC LICENSING PROCEEDINGS

1. The authority citation for Part 2 is revised to read as follows:

AUTHORITY: Secs. 161, 181, 68 Stat. 948, 953, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2201, 2231); sec. 191, as amended, Pub. L. 87-615, 76 Stat. 409 (42 U.S.C. 2241); sec. 201, 88 Stat. 1242, as amended (42 U.S.C. 5841); 5 U.S.C. 552. Section 2.101 also issued under secs. 53, 62, 63, 81, 103, 104, 105, 68 Stat. 930, 932, 933, 935, 936, 937, 938, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2073, 2092, 2093, 2111, 2133, 2134, 2135); sec. 301, 88 Stat. 1248 (42 U.S.C. 5871). Sections 2.102, 2.103, 2.104, 2.105, 2.721 also issued under secs. 102, 103, 104, 105, 183, 189, 68 Stat. 936, 937, 938, 954, 955, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2132, 2133, 2134, 2135, 2233, 2239). Section 2.105 also issued under Pub. L. 97-415, 96 Stat. 2073 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Sections 2.200-2.206 also issued under secs. 186, 234, 68 Stat. 955, 83 Stat. 444, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2236, 2282); sec. 206, 88 Stat. 1246 (42 U.S.C. 5846). Sections 2.600-2.606 also issued under sec. 102, Pub. L. 91-190, 83 Stat. 853, as amended (42 U.S.C. 4332). Sections 2.700a, 2.719 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 554. Sections 2.754, 2.760, 2.770, 2.780 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 557. Section 2.764 and Table 1A of Appendix C also issued under secs. 135, 141, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2232, 2241 (42 U.S.C. 10155, 10161). Section 2.790 also issued under sec. 103, 68 Stat. 936, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2133) and 5 U.S.C. 552. Sections 2.800 and 2.808 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553. Section 2.809 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553 and sec. 29, Pub. L. 85-256, 71 Stat. 579, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2039). Subpart K also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239); sec. 134, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2230 (42 U.S.C. 10154). Subpart L also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Appendix A also issued under sec. 6, Pub. L. 91-560, 84 Stat. 1473 (42 U.S.C. 2135). Appendix B also issued under sec. 10, Pub. L. 99-240, 99 Stat. 1842 (42 U.S.C. 2021b et seq.).

2. Subpart L of Part 2 is added to read as follows:

Subpart L - Informal Hearing Procedures for Adjudications  
in Materials Licensing Proceedings

Sec.

- 2.1201 Scope of subpart.
- 2.1203 Docket; filing; service.
- 2.1205 Request for a hearing; petition for  
leave to intervene.
- 2.1207 Designation of presiding officer.
- 2.1209 Power of presiding officer.
- 2.1211 Participation by a person not a party.
- 2.1213 Role of the NRC staff.
- 2.1215 Appearance and practice.

## HEARINGS

- 2.1231 Hearing file; prohibition on discovery.
- 2.1233 Written presentations; written questions.
- 2.1235 Oral presentations; oral questions.
- 2.1237 Motions; burden of proof.
- 2.1239 Consideration of Commission rules and regulations in informal adjudications.
- 2.1241 Settlement of proceedings.

INITIAL DECISION, COMMISSION REVIEW,  
AND FINAL DECISION

- 2.1251 Initial decision and its effect.
- 2.1253 Appeals from initial decisions.
- 2.1255 Review by the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.
- 2.1257 Review of decisions and actions of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.
- 2.1259 Final decision; petition for reconsideration.
- 2.1261 Authority of the Secretary to rule on procedural matters.
- 2.1263 Stays of NRC staff licensing actions or of decisions of a presiding officer, an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, or the Commission, pending hearing or review.

SUBPART L - INFORMAL HEARING PROCEDURES FOR ADJUDICATIONS  
IN MATERIALS LICENSING PROCEEDINGS

## § 2.1201 Scope of subpart.

The general rules in this subpart govern procedure in any adjudication initiated by a request for a hearing in a proceeding for the grant, transfer, renewal, or licensee-initiated amendment of a materials license subject to Parts 30, 32 through 35, 39, 40, or 70 of this chapter. Any adjudication regarding a materials license subject to Parts 30, 32 through 35, 39, 40, or 70 that is initiated by a notice of hearing issued under § 2.104, a notice of proposed action under § 2.105, or a request for hearing under Subpart B of 10 CFR Part 2 on an order to show cause, an order for modification of license, or a civil penalty, is to be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Subpart G of 10 CFR Part 2.

§ 2.1203 Docket; filing; service.

(a) The Secretary shall maintain a docket for each adjudication subject to this subpart, commencing with the filing of a request for a hearing. All papers, including any request for a hearing, petition for leave to intervene, correspondence, exhibits, decisions, and orders, submitted or issued in the proceeding; the hearing file compiled in accordance with § 2.1231; and the transcripts of any oral presentations or oral questioning made in accordance with § 2.1235 or in connection with any appeal under this subpart must be filed with the Office of the Secretary and must be included in the docket. The public availability of official records relating to the proceeding is governed by § 2.790.

(b) Documents are filed with the Office of the Secretary in adjudications subject to this subpart either --

(1) By delivery to the Docketing and Service Branch of the Office of the Secretary at One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852; or

(2) By mail or telegram addressed to the Secretary, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 20555, Attention: Docketing and Service Branch.

Filing by mail or telegram is complete as of the time of deposit in the mail or with the telegraph company. Filing by other means is complete as of the time of delivery to the Docketing and Service Branch of the Office of the Secretary.

(c) Each document submitted for filing in an adjudication subject to this part, other than an exhibit, must be legibly typed, must bear the docket number and the title of the proceeding, and, if it is the first document filed by that participant, must designate the name and address of a person upon whom service

can be made. The document also must be signed in accordance with § 2.708(c). A document, other than correspondence, must be filed in an original and two conforming copies. Documents filed by telegram are governed by § 2.708(f). A document that fails to conform to these requirements may be refused acceptance for filing and may be returned with an indication of the reason for nonacceptance. Any document tendered but not accepted for filing may not be entered in the docket.

(d) Computation of time and extension and reduction of time limits is done in accordance with §§ 2.710-2.711.

(e) A request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene must be served in accordance with § 2.712 and § 2.1205(e), (j). All other documents issued by the presiding officer, the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, or the Commission or offered for filing are served in accordance with § 2.712.

#### § 2.1205 Request for a hearing; petition for leave to intervene.

(a) Any person whose interest may be affected by a proceeding for the grant, transfer, renewal, or licensee-initiated amendment of a license subject to this subpart may file a request for a hearing.

(b) An applicant for a license, a license amendment, a license transfer, or a license renewal who is issued a notice of proposed denial or a notice of denial and who desires a hearing shall file the request for the hearing within the time specified in § 2.103 in all cases.

(c) A person other than an applicant shall file a request for a hearing within --

- (1) Thirty (30) days of the agency's publication of the initial Federal Register notice referring or relating to an application or the licensing action requested by an application; or
- (2) If a Federal Register notice is not published, the earlier of --
  - (i) Thirty (30) days after the requestor receives actual notice of a pending application or an agency action granting an application; or
  - (ii) One hundred and eighty (180) days after agency action granting an application.

(d) The request for a hearing filed by a person other than an applicant must describe in detail --

- (1) The interest of the requestor in the proceeding;
- (2) How that interest may be affected by the results of the proceeding, including the reasons why the requestor should be permitted a hearing, with particular reference to the factors set out in paragraph (g) of this section;
- (3) The requestor's areas of concern about the licensing activity that is the subject matter of the proceeding; and
- (4) The circumstances establishing that the request for a hearing is timely in accordance with paragraph (c) of this section.

(e) Each request for a hearing must be served, by delivering it personally or by mail to --

- (1) The applicant (unless the requestor is the applicant); and
- (2) The NRC staff, by delivery to the Executive Director for Operations, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852, or by mail addressed to the Executive Director

for Operations, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission,  
Washington, DC 20555.

(f) Within ten (10) days of service of a request for a hearing filed under paragraph (c) of this section, the applicant may file an answer. The NRC staff, if it chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213, may file an answer to a request for a hearing within ten (10) days of the designation of the presiding officer.

(g) In ruling on a request for a hearing filed under paragraph (c) of this section, the presiding officer shall determine that the specified areas of concern are germane to the subject matter of the proceeding and that the petition is timely. The presiding officer also shall determine that the requestor meets the judicial standards for standing and shall consider, among other factors --

- (1) The nature of the requestor's right under the Act to be made a party to the proceeding;
- (2) The nature and extent of the requestor's property, financial, or other interest in the proceeding; and
- (3) The possible effect of any order that may be entered in the proceeding upon the requestor's interest.

(h) If a hearing request filed under paragraph (b) of this section is granted, the applicant and the NRC staff shall be parties to the proceeding. If a hearing request filed under paragraph (c) of this section is granted, the requestor shall be a party to the proceeding along with the applicant and the NRC staff, if the staff chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213.

(i) If a request for a hearing is granted and a notice of the kind described in paragraph (c)(1) previously has not been published in the Federal Register, a notice of hearing must be published in the Federal Register stating --

- (1) The time, place, and nature of the hearing;
- (2) The authority under which the hearing is to be held;
- (3) The matters of fact and law to be considered;
- (4) The time within which any other person whose interest may be affected by the proceeding may petition for leave to intervene, as specified in paragraph (j) of this section; and
- (5) The time within which a request to participate under § 2.1211(b) must be filed.

(j) Any petition for leave to intervene must be filed within thirty (30) days of the date of publication of the notice of hearing. The petition must set forth the information required under paragraph (d) of this section.

- (1) A petition for leave to intervene must be served upon the applicant. The petition also must be served upon the NRC staff --

- (i) By delivery to the Executive Director for Operations, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852; or
- (ii) By mail addressed to the Executive Director for Operations, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555.

- (2) Within ten (10) days of service of a petition for leave to intervene, the applicant and the NRC staff, if the staff chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213, may file an answer.

(3) Thereafter, the petition for leave to intervene must be ruled upon by the presiding officer, taking into account the matters set forth in paragraph (g) of this section.

(4) If the petition is granted, the petitioner becomes a party to the proceeding.

(k)(1) A request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene found by the presiding officer to be untimely under paragraph (c) or (j) will be entertained only upon determination by the Commission or the presiding officer that the requestor or petitioner has established that --

(i) The delay in filing the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene was excusable; and

(ii) The grant of the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene will not result in undue prejudice or undue injury to any other participant in the proceeding, including the applicant and the NRC staff, if the staff chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213.

(2) If the request for a hearing on the petition for leave to intervene is found to be untimely and the requestor or petitioner fails to establish that it otherwise should be entertained under paragraph (k)(1) of this section, the request or petition will be treated as a petition under § 2.206 and referred for appropriate disposition.

(1) The filing or granting of a request for a hearing or petition for leave to intervene need not delay NRC staff action regarding an application for a licensing action covered by this subpart.



(m) An order granting a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene may condition or limit participation in the interest of avoiding repetitive factual presentations and argument.

(n) If the presiding officer denies a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene in its entirety, the action is appealable within ten (10) days of service of the order on the question whether the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene should have been granted in whole or in part. If a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene is granted, parties other than the requestor or petitioner may appeal that action within ten (10) days of service of the order on the question whether the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene should have been denied in its entirety. An appeal may be taken by filing and serving upon all parties a statement that succinctly sets out, with supporting argument, the errors alleged. The appeal may be supported or opposed by any party by filing a counter-statement within fifteen (15) days of the service of the appeal brief.

§ 2.1207 Designation of presiding officer.

(a) Unless otherwise ordered by the Commission or as provided in paragraph (b) of this section, within ten (10) days of receiving from the Office of the Secretary a request for a hearing relating to a licensing proceeding covered by this subpart, the Chairman of the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel shall issue an order designating a single member of the panel to rule on the request for a hearing and, if necessary, to serve as the presiding officer to conduct the hearing.

(b) For any request for hearing relating to an application under 10 CFR Part 70 to receive and store unirradiated fuel at the site of a production or utilization facility that also is the subject of a proceeding under Subpart G of this Part for the issuance of an operating license, within ten (10) days of receiving from the Office of the Secretary a request for a hearing the Chairman of the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel shall issue an order designating a Licensing Board conducting the operating license proceeding to rule on the request for a hearing and, if necessary, to conduct the hearing in accordance with this Subpart. Upon certification to the Commission by the Licensing Board designated to conduct the hearing that the matters presented for adjudication by the parties with respect to the Part 70 application are substantially the same as those being heard in the pending proceeding under 10 CFR Part 50, the Licensing Board may conduct the hearing in accordance with the procedures in Subpart G.

§ 2.1209 Power of presiding officer.

A presiding officer has the duty to conduct a fair and impartial hearing according to law, to take appropriate action to avoid delay, and to maintain order. The presiding officer has all powers necessary to those ends, including the power to --

- (a) Regulate the course of the hearing and the conduct of the participants;
- (b) Dispose of procedural requests or similar matters;
- (c) Hold conferences before or during the hearing for settlement, simplification of the issues, or any other proper purpose;

(d) Certify questions to the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board for determination, either in the presiding officer's discretion or on direction of the Commission or the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board;

(e) Reopen a closed record for the reception of further information at any time prior to initial decision in accordance with § 2.734;

(f) Administer oaths and affirmations;

(g) Issue initial decisions;

(h) Issue subpoenas requiring the attendance and testimony of witnesses at the hearing or the production of documents for the hearing;

(i) Receive written or oral evidence and take official notice of any fact in accordance with § 2.743(i);

(j) Appoint special assistants from the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel in accordance with § 2.722;

(k) Recommend to the Commission that procedures other than those authorized under this subpart be used in a particular proceeding; and

(l) Take any other action consistent with the Act and this chapter.

§ 2.1211 Participation by a person not a party.

(a) The presiding officer may permit a person who is not a party to make a limited appearance in order to state his or her views on the issues. Limited appearances may be in writing or oral, at the discretion of the presiding officer, and are governed by rules adopted by the presiding officer. A limited appearance statement is not to be considered part of the decisional record under § 2.1251(c).

(b) Within thirty days of an order granting a request for a hearing made under § 2.1205(b)-(c) or, in instances when it is published, within thirty days

of a notice of hearing issued under § 2.1205(i), the representative of an interested State, county, municipality, or an agency thereof, may request an opportunity to participate in a proceeding under this subpart. Upon receipt of a request filed in accordance with these time limits, the presiding officer shall afford the representative a reasonable opportunity to make written and oral presentations in accordance with §§ 2.1233 and 2.1235, without requiring the representative to take a position with respect to the issues. Participants under this subsection may notice an appeal of an initial decision in accordance with § 2.1253 with respect to any issue on which they participate.

§ 2.1213 Role of the NRC staff.

If a hearing request is filed under § 2.1205(b), the NRC staff shall be a party to the proceeding. If a hearing request is filed under § 2.1205(c), within ten (10) days of the designation of a presiding officer pursuant to § 2.1207 the NRC staff shall notify the presiding officer whether or not the staff desires to participate as a party to the adjudication. Thereafter, upon a determination by the presiding officer that the resolution of any issue in the proceeding would be aided materially by staff's participation in the proceeding as a party, the presiding officer may order or permit the NRC staff to participate as a party with respect to that particular issue.

§ 2.1215 Appearance and practice.

(a) An individual may appear in an adjudication under this subpart on his or her own behalf or by an attorney-at-law. Representation by an attorney-at-law is not necessary in order for an organization or a § 2.1211(b) participant to appear in an adjudication conducted under this subpart. If the

representative of an organization is not an attorney-at-law, he or she shall be a member or officer of the organization represented. Upon request of the presiding officer, an individual acting as a representative shall provide appropriate information establishing the basis of his or her authority to act in a representational capacity.

(b) Any action to reprimand, censure, or suspend a party, a § 2.1211(b) participant, or the representative of a party or a § 2.1211(b) participant must be in accordance with the procedures in § 2.713(c).

### HEARINGS

§ 2.1231 Hearing file; prohibition on discovery.

(a) Within thirty (30) days of the presiding officer's entry of an order granting a request for a hearing, the NRC staff shall file in the docket, present to the presiding officer, and make available to the applicant and any other party to the proceeding a hearing file. Thereafter, within ten (10) days of the date a petition for leave to intervene or a request to participate under § 2.1211(b) is granted, the NRC staff shall make the hearing file available to the petitioner or the § 2.1211(b) participant.

- (1) The hearing file must be made available to the applicant and any other party or § 2.1211(b) participant to the proceeding either by --
  - (i) Service in accordance with § 2.1203(e); or
  - (ii) Placing the file in an established local public document room in the vicinity of the principal location where nuclear material that is the subject of a proceeding under this subpart will be possessed, and informing the applicant, party, or § 2.1211(b)

participant in writing of its action and the location of the file. If an established local public document room does not exist, the NRC staff will arrange for the documents contained in the hearing file, along with any other material docketed in accordance with § 2.1203, to be made available for public inspection and copying during the course of the adjudication in a library or other facility that is accessible to the general public during regular business hours and is in the vicinity of the principal location where the nuclear material that is the subject of the proceeding will be possessed.

- (2) The hearing file also must be made available for public inspection and copying during regular business hours at the NRC Public Document Room in Washington, DC.

(b) The hearing file will consist of the application and any amendment thereto, any NRC environmental impact statement or assessment relating to the application, and any NRC report and any correspondence between the applicant and the NRC that is relevant to the application. Hearing file documents already in an established local public document room or the NRC Public Document Room when the hearing request is granted may be incorporated into the hearing file at those locations by a reference indicating where at those locations the documents can be found. The presiding officer shall rule upon any issue regarding the appropriate materials for the hearing file.

(c) The NRC staff has a continuing duty to keep the hearing file up to date with respect to the materials set forth in paragraph (b) of this section and to provide those materials for the docket, the presiding officer, and the

applicant or any party or § 2.1211(b) participant in a manner consistent with the way the hearing file was made available initially under paragraph (a).

(d) A party or § 2.1211(b) participant may not seek discovery from any other party, § 2.1211(b) participant, or the NRC or its personnel, whether by document production, deposition, interrogatories, or otherwise.

§ 2.1233 Written presentations; written questions.

(a) After publication of a notice of hearing in accordance with § 2.1205(i) and after the NRC staff has made the hearing file available in accordance with § 2.1231, the parties and § 2.1211(b) participants shall be afforded the opportunity to submit, under oath or affirmation, written presentations of their arguments and documentary data, informational material, and other supporting written evidence at the time or times and in the sequence the presiding officer establishes by appropriate order. The presiding officer also may, on his or her initiative, submit written questions to the parties to be answered in writing, under oath or affirmation, and supported by appropriate documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence.

(b) In a hearing initiated under § 2.1205(b), the initial written presentation of the applicant that is issued a notice of proposed denial or a notice of denial must describe in detail any deficiency or omission in the agency's denial or proposed denial of its application and what relief is sought with respect to each deficiency or omission.

(c) In a hearing initiated under § 2.1205(c), the initial written presentation of a party that requested a hearing or petitioned for leave to intervene must describe in detail any deficiency or omission in the license application, with references to any particular section or portion of the

application considered deficient, give a detailed statement of reasons why any particular section or portion is deficient or why an omission is material, and describe in detail what relief is sought with respect to each deficiency or omission.

(d) A party or § 2.1211(b) participant making an initial written presentation under this section shall submit with its presentation or identify by reference to a generally available publication or source, such as the hearing file, all documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence upon which it relies to support or illustrate each omission or deficiency complained of. Thereafter, additional documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence may be submitted or referenced by any party, other than the NRC staff, or by any § 2.1211(b) participant in a written presentation or in response to a written question only as the presiding officer, in his or her discretion, permits.

(e) Strict rules of evidence do not apply to written submissions under this section, but the presiding officer may, on motion or on the presiding officer's own initiative, strike any portion of a written presentation or a response to a written question that is cumulative, irrelevant, immaterial, or unreliable.

#### § 2.1235 Oral presentations; oral questions.

(a) Upon a determination that it is necessary to create an adequate record for decision, in his or her discretion the presiding officer may allow or require oral presentations by any party or § 2.1211(b) participant, including testimony by witnesses. Oral presentations are subject to any appropriate time limits the presiding officer imposes. Responsibility for the



conduct of the examination of any witness rests with the presiding officer who may allow a party or § 2.1211(b) participant to propose questions for the presiding officer to pose to a witness.

(b) Oral presentations and responses to oral questioning to be relied upon as oral evidence must be given under oath or affirmation. All oral presentations or oral questioning must be stenographically reported and, except as requested pursuant to section 181 of the Act, must be public unless otherwise ordered by the Commission.

(c) Strict rules of evidence do not apply to oral submissions under this section, but the presiding officer may, on motion or on the presiding officer's own initiative, strike any portion of an oral presentation or a response to oral questioning that is cumulative, irrelevant, immaterial, or unreliable.

§ 2.1237 Motions; burden of proof.

(a) Motions presented in the proceeding must be presented and disposed of in accordance with § 2.730(a)-(g).

(b) Unless otherwise ordered by the presiding officer, the applicant or the proponent of an order has the burden of proof.

§ 2.1239 Consideration of Commission rules and regulations in informal adjudications.

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) of this section, any regulation of the Commission issued in its program for the licensing and regulation of production and utilization facilities, source material, special nuclear material, or byproduct material may not be challenged in any adjudication subject to this subpart.

(b) A party to an adjudication subject to this subpart may petition that the application of a Commission regulation specified in paragraph (a) of this section be waived or an exception made for the particular proceeding. The sole ground for a request for waiver or exception must be that special circumstances exist so that application of the regulation to the subject matter of the proceeding would not serve the purposes for which the regulation was adopted. In the absence of a prima facie showing of special circumstances, the presiding officer may not further consider the matter. If the presiding officer determines that a prima facie showing has been made, he or she shall certify directly to the Commission itself for determination the matter of whether special circumstances support a waiver or an exception and whether a waiver or an exception should be granted. The Commission's determination shall be made after any further proceeding the Commission deems appropriate.

#### § 2.1241 Settlement of proceedings.

The fair and reasonable settlement of proceedings subject to this subpart is encouraged. A settlement must be approved by the presiding officer or Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, as appropriate, in order to be binding in the proceeding.

### INITIAL DECISION, COMMISSION REVIEW, AND FINAL DECISION

#### § 2.1251 Initial decision and its effect.

(a) Unless the Commission directs that the record be certified to it in accordance with paragraph (b) of this section, the presiding officer shall render an initial decision after completion of an informal hearing under this subpart. That initial decision constitutes the final action of the Commission

thirty (30) days after the date of issuance, unless an appeal is taken in accordance with § 2.1253.

(b) The Commission may direct that the presiding officer certify the record to it without an initial decision and may omit an initial decision and prepare a final decision upon a finding that due and timely execution of its functions so requires.

(c) An initial decision must be in writing and must be based only upon information in the record or facts officially noticed. The record must include all information submitted in the proceeding with respect to which all parties have been given reasonable prior notice and an opportunity to comment. The initial decision must include --

(1) Findings, conclusions, and rulings, with the reasons or basis for them, on all material issues of fact, law, or discretion presented on the record;

(2) The appropriate ruling, order, or denial of relief with its effective date; and

(3) The time within which appeals to the decision and a brief in support of those appeals may be filed, the time within which briefs in support of or in opposition to appeals filed by another party may be filed, and the date when the decision becomes final in the absence of an appeal.

(d) Matters not put into controversy by the parties may not be examined and decided by the presiding officer or the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board. If the presiding officer or the Appeal Board believes that a serious safety, environmental, or common defense and security matter exists that has not been placed in controversy, the presiding officer or the Appeal Board shall

advise the Commission promptly of the basis for that view, and the Commission may take appropriate action.

(e) Pending review and final decision by the Commission, an initial decision resolving all issues before the presiding officer in favor of authorizing licensing action subject to this subpart is immediately effective upon issuance except --

(1) As provided in any order issued in accordance with § 2.1263 that stays the effectiveness of an initial decision; or

(2) As otherwise provided by the Commission in special circumstances.

(f) Following an initial decision resolving all issues in favor of the licensing action as specified in paragraph (e), the Director of Nuclear Reactor Regulation or the Director of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards, as appropriate, notwithstanding the filing or pendency of an appeal pursuant to § 2.1253, shall take the appropriate licensing action upon making the appropriate licensing findings promptly, except as may be provided pursuant to paragraph (e)(1) or (2).

#### § 2.1253 Appeals from initial decisions.

Parties and § 2.1211(b) participants may appeal from an initial decision under this subpart in accordance with the procedures set out in §§ 2.762 and 2.763.

§ 2.1255 Review by the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.

The Commission authorizes the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board to exercise the authority and carry out the review functions to be performed under §§ 2.1205(n), 2.1209(d), and 2.1253.

§ 2.1257 Review of decisions and actions of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.

The Commission will not entertain any petition for review of a decision or action of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board under this subpart. Commission review is available only on the Commission's own motion within forty (40) days after the date of a decision or action by the Appeal Board under § 2.1255. Commission review will be conducted in accordance with those procedures the Commission deems appropriate. Absent Commission review, the decision of the Appeal Board constitutes the final action of the Commission.

§ 2.1259 Final decision; petition for reconsideration.

(a) Commission or Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board action to render a final decision must be in accordance with § 2.770.

(b) The provisions of § 2.771 govern the filing of petitions for reconsideration.

§ 2.1261 Authority of the Secretary to rule on procedural matters.

The Secretary or the Assistant Secretary may rule on procedural matters relating to proceedings conducted by the Commission itself under this subpart to the same extent they can do so under § 2.772 for proceedings under Subpart G.

§ 2.1263 Stays of NRC staff licensing actions and decisions of a presiding officer, an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board or the Commission, pending hearing or review.

Applications for a stay of any decision or action of the Commission, a presiding officer, or an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board or any action by the NRC staff in issuing a license in accordance with § 2.1205(1) are governed by § 2.788, except that any request for a stay of staff licensing action pending completion of an adjudication under this subpart must be filed at the time a request for a hearing or petition to intervene is filed or within ten (10) days of the staff's action, whichever is later. A request for a stay of a staff licensing action must be filed with the adjudicatory decisionmaker before which the licensing proceeding is pending.

Dated at Rockville, MD, this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 1988.

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

---

SAMUEL J. CHILK,  
Secretary of the Commission.

**Attachment 2**

## PART 2 -- RULES OF PRACTICE FOR DOMESTIC LICENSING PROCEEDINGS

## 1. The authority citation for Part 2 is revised to read as follows:

AUTHORITY: Secs. 161, 181, 68 Stat. 948, 953, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2201, 2231); sec. 191, as amended, Pub. L. 87-615, 76 Stat. 409 (42 U.S.C. 2241); sec. 201, 88 Stat. 1242, as amended (42 U.S.C. 5841); 5 U.S.C. 552. Section 2.101 also issued under secs. 53, 62, 63, 81, 103, 104, 105, 68 Stat. 930, 932, 933, 935, 936, 937, 938, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2073, 2092, 2093, 2111, 2133, 2134, 2135); sec. 301, 88 Stat. 1248 (42 U.S.C. 5871). Sections 2.102, 2.103, 2.104, 2.105, 2.721 also issued under secs. 102, 103, 104, 105, 183, 189, 68 Stat. 936, 937, 938, 954, 955, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2132, 2133, 2134, 2135, 2233, 2239). Section 2.105 also issued under Pub. L. 97-415, 96 Stat. 2073 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Sections 2.200-2.206 also issued under secs. 186, 234, 68 Stat. 955, 83 Stat. 444, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2236, 2282); sec. 206, 88 Stat. 1246 (42 U.S.C. 5846). Sections 2.600-2.606 also issued under sec. 102, Pub. L. 91-190, 83 Stat. 853, as amended (42 U.S.C. 4332). Sections 2.700a, 2.719 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 554. Sections 2.754, 2.760, 2.770, 2.780 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 557. Section 2.764 and Table 1A of Appendix C also issued under secs. 135, 141, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2232, 2241 (42 U.S.C. 10155, 10161). Section 2.790 also issued under sec. 103, 68 Stat. 936, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2133) and 5 U.S.C. 552. Sections 2.800 and 2.808 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553. Section 2.809 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553 and sec. 29, Pub. L. 85-256, 71 Stat. 579, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2039). Subpart K also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239); sec. 134, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2230 (42 U.S.C. 10154). Subpart L also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Appendix A also issued under sec. 6, Pub. L. 91-560, 84 Stat. 1473 (42 U.S.C. 2135). Appendix B also issued under sec. 10, Pub. L. 99-240, 99 Stat. 1842 (42 U.S.C. 2021b et seq.).

## 2. Subpart L of Part 2 is added to read as follows:

Subpart L - Informal Hearing Procedures for Adjudications  
in Materials Licensing Proceedings

## Sec.

- 2.1201 Scope of subpart.
- 2.1203 Docket; filing; service.
- 2.1205 Request for a hearing; petition for  
leave to intervene.
- 2.1207 Designation of presiding officer.
- 2.1209 Power of presiding officer.
- 2.1211 Participation by a person not a party.
- 2.1213 Role of the NRC staff.
- 2.1215 Appearance and practice.



## HEARINGS

- 2.1231 Hearing file; prohibition on discovery.
- 2.1233 Written presentations; written questions.
- 2.1235 Oral presentations; oral questions.
- 2.1237 Motions; burden of proof.
- 2.123739 Consideration of Commission rules and regulations in informal adjudications.
- 2.123941 Settlement of materials-licensing proceedings.

INITIAL DECISION, COMMISSION REVIEW,  
AND FINAL DECISION

- 2.1251 Initial decision and its effect.
- 2.1253 Appeals from initial decisions.
- 2.1255 Review by the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.
- 2.1257 Review of decisions and actions of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.
- 2.1259 Final decision; petition for reconsideration.
- 2.1261 Authority of the Secretary to rule on procedural matters.
- 2.1263 Stays of NRC staff licensing actions or of decisions of a presiding officer, an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, or the Commission, pending hearing or review.

SUBPART L - INFORMAL HEARING PROCEDURES FOR  
ADJUDICATIONS IN MATERIALS LICENSING  
PROCEEDINGS

§ 2.1201 Scope of subpart.

The general rules in this subpart govern procedure in any adjudication initiated by a request for a hearing in a proceeding for the grant, transfer, renewal, or licensee-initiated amendment of a materials license subject to Parts 30, 32 through 35, 39, 40, or 70 of this chapter. Any adjudication regarding a materials license subject to Parts 30, 32 through 35, 39, 40, or 70 that is initiated by a notice of hearing issued under § 2.104, a notice of proposed action under § 2.105, or a request for hearing under Subpart B of 10 CFR Part 2 on an order to show cause, an order for modification of license, or a civil penalty, is to be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Subpart G of 10 CFR Part 2.

§ 2.1203 Docket, filing; service.

(a) The Secretary shall maintain a docket for each adjudication subject to this subpart, commencing with the filing of a request for a hearing. All papers, including any request for a hearing, petition for leave to intervene, correspondence, exhibits, decisions, and orders, submitted or issued in the proceeding; the hearing file compiled in accordance with § 2.1231; and the transcripts of any oral presentations or oral questioning made in accordance with § 2.1235 or in connection with any appeal under this subpart must be filed with the Office of the Secretary and must be included in the docket.

The public availability of official records relating to the proceeding is governed by § 2.790.

(b) Documents ~~will be considered~~ are filed with the Office of the Secretary in adjudications subject to this subpart either --

(1) By delivery to the Docketing and Service Branch of the Office of the Secretary at ~~Room-1121, 1717-H-Street, NW, Washington, D.C.~~  
One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852; or

(2) By mail or telegram addressed to the Secretary, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 20555, Attention: Docketing and Service Branch.

Filing by mail or telegram ~~will be~~ is complete as of the time of deposit in the mail or with the telegraph company. Filing by other means is complete as of the time of delivery to the Docketing and Service Branch of the Office of the Secretary.

(c) Each document submitted for filing in an adjudication subject to this part, other than an exhibit, must be legibly typed, must bear the docket number and the title of the proceeding, and, if it is the first document filed

by that participant must designate the name and address of a person upon whom service can be made. The document also must be signed in accordance with § 2.708(c). A document, other than correspondence, must be filed in an original and two conforming copies. Documents filed by telegram are governed by § 2.708(f). A document that fails to conform to these requirements may be refused acceptance for filing and may be returned with an indication of the reason for nonacceptance. Any document tendered but not accepted for filing may not be entered in the docket.

(ed) Computation of time and extension and reduction of time limits shall be is done in accordance with §§ 2.710-2.711.

(de) A request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene must be served in accordance with § 2.712 and § 2.1205(e), (j). All other documents issued by the presiding officer, the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, or the Commission or offered for filing are to-be served in accordance with § 2.712. as-the-presiding-officer,-the-Atomic-Safety-and-Licensing-Appeal Board,-or-the-Commission-shall-direct,

§ 2.1205 Request for a hearing; petition for leave to intervene.

(a) Any person whose interest may be affected by a proceeding for the grant, transfer, renewal, or licensee-initiated amendment of a ~~materials~~ license subject to this subpart may file a request for a hearing.

(b) An applicant for a license, a license amendment, a license transfer, or a license renewal who is issued a notice of proposed denial or a notice of denial and who desires a hearing must-in-all-cases shall file a the request for a hearing within the time specified in § 2.103 in all cases.

(c) ~~The request for a hearing of a~~ A person other than an applicant must ~~be shall~~ file a request for a hearing within --

(1) ~~within thirty (30) days of the agency's publication in of the~~  
initial Federal Register of a notice of the receipt of, or action  
relative to an referring or relating to an application or the  
licensing action requested by an application; or

(2) ~~If no such a Federal Register~~ notice is not published, ~~within~~  
the earlier of --

(i) ~~thirty (30) days after the requestor receives actual notice of~~  
 a pending application or an agency action granting an  
 application; or

(ii) ~~within one hundred and eighty (180) year days after agency~~  
 action granting an application, ~~whichever first occurs -- A~~  
~~request for a hearing filed more than one (1) year after~~  
~~effective completion of the agency action will be granted only~~  
~~upon a showing of exceptional circumstances for the late filing.~~

(d) The request for a hearing filed by a person other than an applicant  
 must describe in detail --

(1) The interest of the requestor in the proceeding;

(2) How that interest may be affected by the results of the proceeding,  
 including the reasons why the requestor should be permitted a  
 hearing, with particular reference to the factors of set out in  
 paragraph (g) of this section; and

(3) ~~The specific aspect or aspects of~~ requestor's areas of concern about  
the licensing activity that is the subject matter of the proceeding  
~~about which the requester wishes to be heard;~~ and

(4) The circumstances establishing that the request for a hearing is timely in accordance with paragraph (c) of this section.

(e) Each request for a hearing must be served, by delivering it personally or by mail to --

(1) The applicant (unless the requestor is the applicant); and

(2) The NRC staff, by delivery to the Executive Director for Operations, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852, or by mail addressed to the Executive Director for Operations, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 20555.

(f) Within ten (10) days of service of a request for a hearing filed under paragraph (c) of this section, the applicant may file an answer. The NRC staff, if it chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213, may file an answer to such a request for a hearing within ten (10) days of the designation of the presiding officer.

(g) In ruling on a request for a hearing filed under paragraph (c) of this section, the presiding officer shall determine that the specified areas of concern are germane to the subject matter of the proceeding and that the petition is timely. ~~the~~ The presiding officer also shall determine that the requestor meets the judicial standards for standing and shall consider, among other factors --

- (1) The nature of the requestor's right under the Act to be made a party to the proceeding;
- (2) The nature and extent of the requestor's property, financial, or other interest in the proceeding; and
- (3) The possible effect of any order that may be entered in the proceeding upon the requestor's interest.

(h) If a hearing request filed under paragraph (b) of this section is granted, the applicant and the NRC staff shall be parties to the proceeding. If a hearing request filed under paragraph (c) of this section is granted, the requestor shall be a party to the proceeding along with the applicant and the NRC staff, if the staff chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with § 2.1213.

(i) If a request for a hearing is granted and ~~no~~ a notice of the kind described in paragraph (c)(1) opportunity-for-a-hearing previously has not been published in the Federal Register, a notice of hearing must be published in the Federal Register ~~that must state~~ stating --

- (1) The time, place, and nature of the hearing;
- (2) The authority under which the hearing is to be held;
- (3) The matters of fact and law to be considered; and
- (4) The time within which any other person whose interest may be affected by the proceeding may petition for leave to intervene, as specified in paragraph (j) of this section; and
- (5) The time within which a request to participate under § 2.1211(b) must be filed.

(j) Any petition for leave to intervene, ~~which~~ must be filed within thirty (30) days of the date of publication of the notice of hearing. The petition must set forth the information required under paragraph (d) of this section.

(1) A petition for leave to intervene must be served upon the applicant, and The petition also must be served upon the NRC staff, --

(i) bBy delivering it-personally to the Executive Director for Operations, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852; or

(ii) By mail addressed to the Executive Director for Operations,  
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 20555.

(2) Within ten (10) days of service of a petition for leave to intervene,  
the NRC staff and the applicant and the NRC staff, if the staff  
chooses or is ordered to participate as a party in accordance with  
§ 2.1213, may file an answer.

(3) Thereafter, the petition for leave to intervene must be ruled upon by  
the presiding officer, taking into account the ~~factors~~ matters set  
forth in paragraph (g) of this section.

(4) If the petition is granted, the petitioner shall be considered  
becomes a party to the proceeding.

(k)(1) A untimely request for a hearing or a petition for leave to  
intervene found by the presiding officer to be untimely under paragraph (c)  
or (j) will not be entertained absent a finding by the Commission or the  
presiding officer that the petition should be granted based upon a balancing of  
the factors set forth in § 2.714(a)(1)(v), in addition to those set forth in  
paragraph (g) of this section, only upon determination by the Commission  
or the presiding officer that the requestor or petitioner has established  
that --

(i) The delay in filing the request for a hearing or the petition for  
leave to intervene was excusable; and

(ii) The grant of the request for a hearing on the petition for leave to  
intervene will not result in undue prejudice or undue injury to any  
other participant in the proceeding, including the applicant and the  
NRC staff, if the staff chooses or is ordered to participate as a  
party in accordance with § 2.1213.

(2) If the request for a hearing on the petition for leave to intervene is found to be untimely and the requestor or petitioner fails to establish that it otherwise should be entertained under paragraph (k)(1) of this section, the request or petition will be treated as a petition under § 2.206 and referred for appropriate disposition.

(1) The filing or granting of a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene need not delay NRC staff action regarding an application for a materials licensing action covered by this subpart.

(m) An order granting a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene may condition or limit participation in the interest of avoiding repetitive factual presentations and argument.

(n) ~~In-the-event~~ If the presiding officer ~~wholly~~ denies a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene in its entirety, ~~that~~ action is appealable within ten (10) ~~working~~ days of service of the order on the question whether the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene should have been granted in whole or in part. If a request for a hearing or a petition for leave to intervene is granted, parties other than the requestor or petitioner may appeal that action within ten (10) days of service of the order on the question whether the request for a hearing or the petition for leave to intervene should have been ~~wholly~~ denied in its entirety. An appeal may be taken by filing and serving upon all parties a statement that succinctly sets out, with supporting argument, the errors alleged. The appeal may be supported or opposed by any party by filing a counter-statement within fifteen (15) days of the service of the appeal brief.



## § 2.1207 Designation of presiding officer.

(a) Unless otherwise ordered by the Commission or as provided in paragraph (b) of this section, within ten (10) days of ~~filing-of~~ receiving from the Office of the Secretary a request for a hearing relating to a ~~materials license~~ing proceeding covered by this subpart, the Chairman of the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel shall issue an order designating a single member of the panel to rule on the request for a hearing and, if necessary, to serve as the presiding officer to conduct the hearing.

(b) For any request for hearing relating to an application under 10 CFR Part 70 to receive and store unirradiated fuel at the site of a production or utilization facility that also is the subject of a proceeding under Subpart G of this Part for the issuance of an operating license, within ten (10) days of receiving from the Office of the Secretary the hearing request the Chairman of the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel shall issue an order designating a Licensing Board conducting the operating license proceeding to rule on the request for a hearing and, if necessary, to conduct the hearing in accordance with this Subpart. Upon certification to the Commission by the Licensing Board designated to conduct the hearing that the matters presented for adjudication by the parties with respect to the Part 70 application are substantially the same as those being heard in the pending proceeding under 10 CFR Part 50, the Licensing Board may conduct the hearing in accordance with the procedures in Subpart G.

§ 2.1209 Power of presiding officer.

A presiding officer has the duty to conduct a fair and impartial hearing according to law, to take appropriate action to avoid delay, and to maintain order. The presiding officer has all powers necessary to those ends, including the power to --

- (a) Regulate the course of the hearing and the conduct of the participants;
- (b) Dispose of procedural requests or similar matters;
- (c) Hold conferences before or during the hearing for settlement, simplification of the issues, or any other proper purpose;
- (d) Certify questions to the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board for determination, either in the presiding officer's discretion or on direction of the Commission or the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board;
- (e) Reopen a ~~proceeding~~ closed record for the reception of further information at any time prior to initial decision in accordance with § 2.734;
- (f) Administer oaths and affirmations;
- (g) Issue initial decisions;
- (h) Issue subpoenas requiring the attendance and testimony of witnesses at the hearing or the production of documents for the hearing;
- (i) Receive written or oral evidence and take official notice of any fact in accordance with § 2.743(i);
- (j) Appoint special assistants from the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board Panel in accordance with § 2.722;
- (j~~k~~) Recommend to the Commission that procedures other than those authorized under this subpart be used in a particular proceeding; and
- (k~~l~~) Take any other action consistent with the Act and this chapter.

§ 2.1211 Participation by a person not a party.

(a) The presiding officer may permit a person who is not a party to make a limited appearance in order to state his or her views on the issues. Limited appearances may be in writing or oral, at the discretion of the presiding officer, and are governed by rules adopted by the presiding officer. A limited appearance statement is not to be considered part of the decisional record under § 2.1251(c).

(b) Upon request, Within thirty days of an order granting a request for a hearing made under § 2.1205(b)-(c) or, in instances when it is published, within thirty days of a notice of hearing issued under § 2.1205(i), the representative of an interested State, county, municipality, or an agency thereof, may request an opportunity to participate in a proceeding under this subpart. Upon receipt of a request filed in accordance with these time limits, the presiding officer shall afford the representative ~~of an interested State, county, municipality, or an agency thereof,~~ a reasonable opportunity to make written and oral presentations in accordance with §§ 2.1233, and 2.1235, without requiring the representative to take a position with respect to the issues. Participants under this subsection may notice an appeal of an initial decision in accordance with § 2.1253 with respect to any issue on which they participate.

§ 2.1213 Role of the NRC staff.

If a hearing request is filed under § 2.1205(b), the NRC staff shall be a party to the proceeding. If a hearing request is filed under § 2.1205(c), within ten (10) days of the designation of a presiding officer pursuant to § 2.1207 the NRC staff shall notify the presiding officer whether or not the

staff desires to participate as a party to the adjudication. Thereafter, upon a determination by the presiding officer that the resolution of any issue in the proceeding would be aided materially by staff's participation in the proceeding as a party, the presiding officer may order or permit the NRC staff to participate as a party with respect to that particular issue.

§ 2.1215 Appearance and practice.

(a) An individual may appear in an adjudication under this subpart on his or her own behalf or by an attorney-at-law. Representation by an attorney-at-law is not necessary in order for ~~an individual~~, an organization, or a § 2.1211(b) participant to appear in an adjudication conducted under this subpart. If the representative of an organization is not an attorney-at-law, he or she ~~must~~ shall be a member or officer of the organization represented. Upon request of the presiding officer, an individual acting as a representative shall provide appropriate information establishing the basis of his or her authority to act in a representational capacity.

(b) Any action to reprimand, censure, or suspend a party, a § 2.1211(b) participant, or the representative of a party or a § 2.1211(b) participant must be in accordance with the procedures in § 2.713(c).

## HEARINGS

§ 2.1231 Hearing file; prohibition on discovery.

(a) Within thirty (30) days of the presiding officer's entry of an order granting a request for a hearing, the NRC staff shall file in the docket, and ~~make-available~~ present to the presiding officer, and make available to the

applicant, and any other party to the proceeding a hearing file. Thereafter, within ten (10) days of the date a petition for leave to intervene or a request to participate under § 2.1211(b) is granted, the NRC staff shall make the hearing file available to the petitioner or the § 2.1211(b) participant.

(1) The hearing file must be made available to the applicant and any other party or § 2.1211(b) participant to the proceeding either by --

(i) Service in accordance with § 2.1203(e); or

(ii) Placing the file in an established local public document room in the vicinity of the principal location where nuclear material that is the subject of a proceeding under this subpart will be possessed, and informing the applicant, party, or § 2.1211(b) participant in writing of its action and the location of the file. If an established local public document room does not exist, the NRC staff will arrange for the documents contained in the hearing file, along with any other material docketed in accordance with § 2.1203, to be made available for public inspection and copying during the course of the adjudication in a library or other facility that is accessible to the general public during regular business hours and is in the vicinity of the principal location where the nuclear material that is the subject of the proceeding will be possessed.

(2) The hearing file also shall ~~must~~ be made available for public inspection and copying during regular business hours at the NRC Public Document Room in Washington, D.C. and-at-any-appropriate local

~~public document room,--in the event no appropriate local public document room exists, the applicant must make the hearing file available for public inspection and copying during regular business hours at a location in the vicinity of the principal location where the nuclear material that is the subject of the application will be processed.~~

(b) The hearing file will consist of the application and any amendment thereto, any NRC environmental impact statement or assessment relating to the application, and any NRC report ~~or~~ and any correspondence between the applicant and the NRC that is relevant to the application. Hearing file documents already in an established local public document room or the NRC Public Document Room when the hearing request is granted may be incorporated into the hearing file at those locations by a reference indicating where at those locations the documents can be found. The presiding officer ~~will~~ shall rule upon any issue regarding the appropriate materials for the hearing file.

(c) The NRC staff has a continuing duty to keep the hearing file up to date with respect to the materials set forth in paragraph (b) of this section and to provide those materials for the docket, the presiding officer, and the applicant or any party or § 2.1211(b) participant in a manner consistent with the way the hearing file was made available initially under paragraph (a).

(d) A party or § 2.1211(b) participant may not seek discovery from any other party, § 2.1211(b) participant, or the NRC or its personnel, whether by document production, deposition, interrogatories, or otherwise.

§ 2.1233 Written presentations; written questions.

(a) ~~At-such-time-or-times-and-in-such-sequence-as-the-presiding-officer may-establish-a~~ After publication of a notice of hearing, if necessary, in accordance with § 2.1205(i) and after the NRC staff has made the hearing file available in accordance with § 2.1231, the parties and § 2.1211(b) participants shall be afforded the opportunity to submit, under oath or affirmation, written presentations of their arguments and documentary data, informational material, and other supporting written evidence at the time or times and in the sequence the presiding officer establishes by appropriate order. The presiding officer also may, on his or her initiative, submit written questions to the parties to be answered in writing, under oath or affirmation, and supported by appropriate documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence.

(b) In a hearing initiated under § 2.1205(b), the initial written presentation of the applicant that is issued a notice of proposed denial or a notice of denial must describe in detail any deficiency or omission in the agency's denial or proposed denial of its application and what relief is sought with respect to each deficiency or omission.

(c) In a hearing initiated under § 2.1205(c), the initial written presentation of a party that requested a hearing or petitioned for leave to intervene must describe in detail any deficiency or omission in the license application, with references to any particular section or portion of the application considered deficient, give a detailed statement of reasons why any particular section or portion is deficient or why an omission is material, and describe in detail what relief is sought with respect to each deficiency or omission.

(d) A party or § 2.1211(b) participant making an initial written presentation under this section ~~must~~ shall submit with its presentation or identify by reference to a generally available publication or source, such as the hearing file, all documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence upon which it relies to support or illustrate each omission or deficiency complained of. Thereafter, additional documentary data, informational material, or other written evidence ~~can~~ may be submitted or referenced by any party, other than the NRC staff, or by any § 2.1211(b) participant in a written presentation or in response to a written question only as the presiding officer, in his or her discretion, permits.

(e) Strict rules of evidence ~~will~~ do not apply to written submissions under this section, but the presiding officer may, on motion or on the presiding officer's own initiative, strike any portion of a written presentation or a response to a written question that is cumulative, irrelevant, immaterial, or unreliable.

#### § 2.1235 Oral presentations; oral questions.

(a) Upon a determination that it is necessary ~~for the creation of~~ to create an adequate record for decision, in his or her discretion the presiding officer may allow or require oral presentations by any the parties or § 2.1211(b) participant, including testimony by witnesses. Oral presentations are subject to any appropriate time limits the presiding officer imposes. Responsibility for the conduct of the examination of any witness rests with the presiding officer who may allow a party or § 2.1211(b) participant to propose questions for the presiding officer to pose to a witness. or pose questions orally to witnesses. The presiding officer may impose appropriate



~~time-limits-on-oral-presentations-and-may-entertain-and-pose-questions-to witnesses-proposed-by-any-party-or-allow-a-sponsoring-party-to-pose-any particular-question-or-line-of-questions-the-presiding-officer-finds-are appropriate.~~

(b) Oral presentations and responses to oral questioning to be relied upon as oral evidence must be given under oath or affirmation. All oral presentations or oral questioning must be stenographically reported and, unless ~~the-presiding-officer-orders-otherwise~~ except as requested pursuant to section 181 of the Act, must be public unless otherwise ordered by the Commission.

(c) Strict rules of evidence ~~will~~ do not apply to oral submissions under this section, but the presiding officer may, on motion or on the presiding officer's own initiative, strike any portion of an oral presentation or a response to oral questioning that is cumulative, irrelevant, immaterial, or unreliable.

§ 2.1237 Motions; burden of proof.

(a) Motions presented in the proceeding must be presented and disposed of in accordance with § 2.730(a)-(g).

(b) Unless otherwise ordered by the presiding officer, the applicant or the proponent of an order has the burden of proof.

§ 2.1237<sup>9</sup> Consideration of Commission rules and regulations in informal adjudications.

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) of this section, any regulation of the Commission issued in its program for the licensing and regulation of production and utilization facilities, source material, special nuclear

material, or byproduct material may not be challenged in any adjudication subject to this subpart.

(b) A party to an adjudication subject to this subpart may petition that the application of a Commission regulation specified in paragraph (a) of this section be waived or an exception made for the particular proceeding. The sole ground for such a request for waiver or exception must be that special circumstances exist ~~sueh~~ so that application of the regulation to the subject matter of the proceeding would not serve the purposes for which the regulation was adopted. In the absence of a prima facie showing of special circumstances, the presiding officer may not further consider the matter. If the presiding officer determines that a prima facie showing has been made, he or she shall certify directly to the Commission itself for determination the matter of whether special circumstances support a waiver or an exception and whether a waiver or an exception should be granted. The Commission's determination shall be made after ~~sueh~~ any further proceedings-as the Commission deems appropriate.

#### § 2.123941 Settlement of ~~materials-licensing~~ proceedings.

The fair and reasonable settlement of proceedings subject to this subpart is encouraged. A settlement must be approved by the presiding officer or Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board, as appropriate, in order to be binding in the proceeding.

INITIAL DECISION, COMMISSION REVIEW,  
AND FINAL DECISION

§ 2.1251 Initial decision and its effect.

(a) Unless the Commission directs that the record be certified to it in accordance with paragraph (b) of this section, the presiding officer shall render an initial decision after completion of an informal hearing under this subpart. That initial decision constitutes the final action of the Commission ~~forty-five-(45)~~ thirty (30) days after the date of issuance, unless an appeal is taken in accordance with § 2.1253.

(b) The Commission may direct that the presiding officer certify the record to it without an initial decision and may omit an initial decision and prepare a final decision upon a finding that due and timely execution of its functions so requires.

(c) An initial decision must be in writing and must be based only upon information in the record or facts officially noticed. The record must include all information submitted in the proceeding with respect to which all parties have been given reasonable prior notice and an opportunity to comment. The initial decision ~~will~~ must include --

(1) Findings, conclusions, and rulings, with the reasons or basis for them, on all material issues of fact, law, or discretion presented on the record;

(2) The appropriate ruling, order, or denial of relief with its effective date; and

(3) The time within which appeals to the decision and a brief in support of those appeals may be filed, the time within which briefs in support of or in opposition to appeals filed by another party may be

filed, and the date when the decision becomes final in the absence of an appeal.

(d) Matters not put into controversy by the parties may not be examined and decided by the presiding officer or the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board. If the presiding officer or the Appeal Board believes that a serious safety, environmental, or common defense and security matter exists that has not been placed in controversy, the presiding officer or the Appeal Board promptly shall advise the Commission promptly of the basis for that view, and the Commission may take appropriate action.

(e) Pending review and final decision by the Commission, an initial decision resolving all issues before the presiding officer in favor of authorizing licensing action subject to this subpart is immediately effective upon issuance except --

(1) As provided in any order issued in accordance with § 2.1263 that stays the effectiveness of an initial decision; or

(2) As otherwise provided by the Commission in special circumstances.

(f) Following an initial decision resolving all issues in favor of the licensing action as specified in paragraph (e), the Director of Nuclear Reactor Regulation or the Director of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards, as appropriate, notwithstanding the filing or pendency of an appeal pursuant to § 2.1253, shall take the appropriate licensing action upon making the appropriate licensing findings promptly, except as may be provided pursuant to paragraph (e)(1) or (2).

§ 2.1253 Appeals from initial decisions.

Parties and § 2.1211(b) participants may appeal from an initial decision under this subpart in accordance with the procedures set out in §§ 2.762 and 2.763.

• § 2.1255 Review by the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.

The Commission authorizes the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board to exercise the authority and carry out the review functions to be performed under §§ 2.1205(n), 2.1209(d), and 2.1253.

• § 2.1257 Review of decisions and actions of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board.

The Commission will not entertain any petition for review of a decision or action of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board under this subpart. Commission review is available only on the Commission's own motion issued within forty (40) days after the date of a decision or action by the Appeal Board under § 2.1255. Commission review will be conducted in accordance with ~~such~~ those procedures the Commission deems appropriate. Absent Commission review, the decision of the Appeal Board constitutes the final action of the Commission.

§ 2.1259 Final decision; petition for reconsideration.

(a) Commission or Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board action to render a final decision must be in accordance with § 2.770.

(b) The provisions of § 2.771 govern the filing of petitions for reconsideration.

§ 2.1261 Authority of the Secretary to rule on procedural matters.

The Secretary or the Assistant Secretary may rule on procedural matters relating to proceedings conducted by the Commission itself under this subpart to the same extent they can do so under § 2.772 for proceedings under Subpart G.

§ 2.1263 Stays of NRC staff licensing actions and decisions of a presiding officer, an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board or the Commission, pending hearing or review.

Applications for a stay of any decision or action of the Commission, a presiding officer, or an Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board or any action by the NRC staff in issuing a license in accordance with § 2.1205(1) are governed by § 2.788, except that any request for a stay of staff licensing action pending completion of an adjudication under this subpart must be filed at the time a request for a hearing or petition to intervene is filed or within ten (10) days of the staff's action, whichever is later. A request for a stay of a staff licensing action must be filed with the adjudicatory decisionmaker before which the licensing proceeding is pending.

Dated at Rockville, MD, this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 1988.

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

---

SAMUEL J. CHILK,  
Secretary of the Commission.



## **RULEMAKING ISSUE**

December 29, 1988

**(Affirmation)**

SECY-88-358

**For:** The Commission

**From:** William C. Parler  
General Counsel

**Subject:** FINAL RULE ON IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVENESS  
PROCEDURES AND RELATED FEDERAL REGISTER  
NOTICE ON TMI-RELATED POLICY STATEMENTS

**Prior History:** SECY-86-296; SECY-86-111

**Summary:** On February 4, 1987, the Commission published in the Federal Register a proposed rule to revise its procedures governing the circumstances under which a presiding officer's favorable initial decision on a reactor construction permit or operating license will become effective so as to authorize the NRC staff to issue the permit or license. 52 Fed. Reg. 3342 (1987). In addition to attempting to simplify and clarify the existing rule, the proposed rule also would remove outdated language providing direction to the the Licensing Boards and Appeal Boards on consideration of issues arising from the Three Mile Island accident. Shortly before and after the publication of the proposed rule, however, the validity of the existing rule was upheld in two different judicial decisions. Accordingly, we now recommend that the Commission keep the existing rule in place, with the exception of the TMI-related provisions that should be deleted as originally proposed. (Attachment 1) In addition, we again recommend that the Commission issue a policy statement that would rescind one superseded TMI-related policy statement and clarify another in light of regulatory developments since the accident. (Attachment 2)

**Contact:**  
Martin G. Malsch, OGC  
x21740

## Discussion:

In suggesting publication of a proposed rule to revise the existing rule on immediate effectiveness of reactor construction permit and operating license initial decisions found in 10 C.F.R. § 2.764, we attempted to respond to various criticisms leveled at the existing rule, including whether the Commission's effectiveness practice of conducting an informal review of contested and uncontested issues in parallel to the final appellate stages of the formal licensing proceeding was legal and whether the current rule accurately reflected the Commission's actual practice. See SECY-85-94. Shortly before the proposed rule was issued and then subsequent to its publication, federal circuit courts, upon reviewing the Commission's existing effectiveness rule and the Commission's practice in implementing that rule, found both passed legal muster. In Oystershell Alliance v. NRC, 800 F.2d 1201, 1205-07 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (*per curiam*), the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit held that the Commission's effectiveness review procedure allowing the issuance of an operating license before the completion of the internal agency appellate process was lawful. Thereafter, in Eddleman v. NRC, 825 F.2d 46 (4th Cir. 1987), the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit held the Commission's effectiveness review of contested and uncontested issues could be conducted informally, without providing the procedural rights and protections afforded by the Administrative Procedure Act for formal adjudicatory hearings.

The proposed rule was in large part an attempt to codify somewhat more clearly the existing effectiveness practice with some minor fine tuning. As a result of these decisions, we now believe the Commission is on firm legal ground both as to the legality of allowing initial decisions to become immediately effective and its current practice of conducting its effectiveness reviews in an informal manner by providing the parties an opportunity to submit written comments and to address the Commission at an "effectiveness" meeting. We thus see little to be gained by an overhaul of the existing rule, particularly given the limited number of pending applications for which an effectiveness review is needed. The final rule, therefore, would not adopt the procedural revisions proposed earlier.



In this regard, we note that one effect of this recommendation is that the existing effectiveness procedures for construction permits, which includes a two-step process of Appeal Board and Commission review, arguably would apply to a combined license for standardized facilities that is to be issued under the proposed Part 52. Given the importance of the decision embodied in the determination to issue a combined license, we believe this is an appropriate effectiveness procedure. In any event this matter could be revisited, if necessary, later after a Commission decision on the proposed new 10 C.F.R. Part 52.

The other issue addressed in the proposed rule was the deletion of several current provisions of section 2.764, specifically all or portions of paragraphs (e)(1)(ii), (e)(2)(ii), and (f)(1)(ii), that reflect Commission guidance to the Licensing and Appeal Boards on how to deal with Three Mile Island-related issues. In the Statement of Considerations accompanying the proposed rule, the Commission indicated that it proposed deletion of these provisions because the various TMI "lessons learned," which are embodied in NUREG-0737, have been applied through specific license conditions, orders, and regulations. 52 Fed. Reg. at 3444. Accordingly, the Commission proposed to drop these guidance provisions as unnecessary.

Of the fourteen commenters on the rule, only three provided comments on this change. Two industry commenters agreed that the change should be made. Two public interest groups, in a joint comment, opposed the change, asserting without support that TMI lessons learned have not been incorporated adequately into the Commission's regulations. This conclusory declaration clearly is an insufficient response to the Commission's determination, supported by examples, that they have been. Accordingly, assuming the Commission continues to agree with its earlier conclusion that all TMI "lessons learned" have been adequately incorporated into existing regulatory guidance, we see no basis for the Commission not to go ahead with this change.

Finally, in conjunction with this final rule, we suggest that the Commission issue the attached draft policy statement relative to two other TMI-related policy statements. This policy

statement would accomplish two ends. The first is ministerial. After TMI, the Commission issued a policy statement to provide interim effectiveness procedures. Although this post-TMI policy statement was later superseded by the Commission's adoption of TMI-related effectiveness procedures in its regulations, the interim procedures policy statement was never cancelled. The draft policy statement would rescind this long superseded policy statement formally.


The other is more substantive. After TMI, the Commission issued a policy statement providing guidance to parties in operating license proceedings on the litigation of TMI-related safety issues, as embodied in NUREG-0737. 45 Fed. Reg. 85236 (Dec. 24, 1980). In this policy statement, the Commission recognized that NUREG-0737 contains two types of TMI-related guidance: that which supplements existing regulations and that which interprets existing regulatory requirements. As was described in SECY-86-111, at 27-28, in large measure the background discussion in this 1980 policy statement has become outdated. Moreover, the adoption of NUREG-0737's supplemental requirements into current regulations seemingly leaves only the need for guidance on litigation of interpretative items. Accordingly, the draft policy statement rescinds the December 1980 policy statement and republishes its guidance on litigation of TMI-related issues, but only insofar as it involves NUREG-0737 interpretative items.

The Division of Freedom of Information and Publications Services, ARM, reviewed this draft final rule and the policy statement. Their comments are incorporated in the proposed final rule and the policy statement.

**Recommendation:**

1. Authorize the Secretary to issue the final rule amending 10 C.F.R. Part 2 and the policy statement.
2. Note that:
  - a. The final rule and the policy statement will become effective thirty days after publication in the Federal Register.

- b. The final rule contains the requisite Regulatory Flexibility Act certification.
- c. The final rule contains no information collection requirements and therefore is not subject to the Paperwork Reduction Act.
- d. The final rule comes within the categorical exclusion in 10 C.F.R. § 51.22(c)(1) and no environmental assessment has been prepared.
- e. A regulatory analysis regarding the final rule is included in the Statement of Considerations.
- f. The final rule does not require a backfit analysis pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 50.109(c).
- g. The Subcommittee on Nuclear Regulation of the Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works, the Subcommittee on Energy and the Environment of the House Interior and Insular Affairs Committee, and the Subcommittee on Energy and Power of the House Energy and Commerce Committee will be informed of the final rule and the policy statement by letter from the Office of Congressional Affairs.
- h. A public announcement will be issued when the final rule and the policy statement are filed with the Office of the Federal Register.

  
William C. Parler  
General Counsel

Attachments:  
As stated

Commissioners' comments or consent should be provided directly to the Office of the Secretary by c.o.b. Monday, January 23, 1989.

Commission Staff Office comments, if any, should be submitted to the Commissioners NLT Friday, January 13, 1989, with an information copy to the Office of the Secretary. If the paper is of such a nature that it requires additional time for analytical review and comment, the Commissioners and the Secretariat should be apprised of when comments may be expected.

This paper is tentatively scheduled for affirmation at an Open Meeting during the Week of January 23, 1989. Please refer to the appropriate Weekly Commission Schedule, when published, for a specific date and time.

DISTRIBUTION:

Commissioners

OGC

OI

OIA

GPA

REGIONAL OFFICES

EDO

ACRS

ACNW

ASLBP

ASLAP

SECY

**Attachment 1**

NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

10 CFR Part 2

Issuance or Amendment of Power Reactor License  
or Permit Following Initial Decision

AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

ACTION: Final rule.

SUMMARY: This final rule makes minor changes in the Commission's rules of practice by revising its regulation that specifies when a license, permit, or amendment can be issued following an initial adjudicatory decision resolving all issues before the presiding officer in favor of authorizing the licensing action. Because of recent judicial decisions affirming the validity of the Commission's existing procedures relating to the "immediate effectiveness" of a presiding officer's decision, the Commission has decided to retain the existing rule, with one exception. The final rule, as proposed, deletes outdated language in the existing regulation emanating from Three Mile Island-related regulatory policies upon which action has now been completed. This action is necessary to clarify existing procedures.

EFFECTIVE DATE: [Insert date thirty days from date of publication in the Federal Register].

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul Bollwerk, Senior Attorney, Office of the General Counsel, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555.

Telephone: (301) 492-1634.

## SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

On February 4, 1987, the Commission published in the Federal Register (52 FR 3442-3447) proposed amendments to its Rules of Practice (10 CFR Part 2) that would revise its existing rule governing when a presiding officer's decision in favor of authorizing the issuance or amendment of a license or permit will become "effective" so as to permit the NRC staff to take the licensing action. In addition to clarifying the existing rule regarding the "effectiveness" of decisions on nuclear power plant construction permits and operating licenses, the proposed rule would have removed language in the rule that provided guidance to the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board and the Atomic Safety and Licensing Appeal Board on how to factor into the adjudicatory process the various regulatory changes resulting from the 1979 accident at Three Mile Island, Unit 2 (TMI-2).

In two recent United States Court of Appeals cases, one decided not long before and one decided not long after the proposed rule was published, the provisions of the Commission's existing rule relating to effectiveness reviews for reactor operating licenses was upheld against arguments that it illegally allowed license issuance prior to the completion of the agency's appellate process and that it violated the Administrative Procedure Act's (APA) procedural protections for formal adjudicatory hearings. Eddleman v. NRC, 825 F.2d 46 (4th Cir. 1987); Oystershell Alliance v. NRC, 800 F.2d 1201 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (per curiam). In Oystershell Alliance the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit held that the Commission's effectiveness review procedure allowing for the issuance of an operating license before the completion of the internal agency appellate process was

lawful. 800 F.2d at 1205-07. In Eddleman, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit held that this procedure could be conducted without providing the procedural rights and protections afforded by the APA for formal adjudicatory hearings. 825 F.2d at 48.

As a result of these two cases upholding its present effectiveness procedures, the Commission has decided not to revise those procedures as proposed, with one exception. That exception is the revision to remove the TMI-related portions of § 2.764, specifically all or portions of paragraphs (e)(1)(ii), (e)(2)(ii), and (f)(1)(ii).

Of the fourteen comments on the proposed rule, only three made specific mention of this proposal to delete TMI-2 related language. Two of the comments, one filed by a nuclear utility and the other by a law firm which represents nuclear utilities, supported deletion of the provisions for the reasons stated in the Statement of Considerations supporting the proposed rule, namely that all applicable TMI-2 action items, which are embodied in NUREG-0737, "Clarification of TMI Action Plan Requirements,"<sup>1</sup> are now covered by regulatory changes with which licensees must comply. The other comment, filed by two public interest groups, opposed deletion of these provisions on the ground that all TMI "lessons learned" have not been incorporated adequately into the Commission's regulations.

In the Statement of Considerations supporting the proposed rule, the Commission declared that "[t]he NRC staff has advised the Commission that all

---

<sup>1</sup>Copies of NUREG-0737 may be purchased from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, P.O. Box 37082, Washington, DC 20013-7082. Copies are also available from the National Technical Information Service, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161. A  
(Footnote Continued)



applicable NUREG-0737 action items are covered by regulatory changes and that a license applicant's compliance with existing regulations is a sufficient response to all applicable TMI-2 accident 'lessons learned.'" (52 FR at 3444). Accompanying this statement were references to a number of specific regulatory changes that are examples of the incorporation of those action items into the NRC's rules. Id. In opposing this revision, the commenters provide only the unsupported observation that this is not so. They then go on to assert that "NUREG-0737 requirements are not given the same priority as other regulations," citing a dispute in the licensing proceeding for the Seabrook nuclear power station over the timing of the installation of a control room safety parameters display system (CRSPDS).

Because, as the Appeal Board noted, the NUREG-0737 CRSPDS requirement in question provided for staff discretion in establishing the timing of installation, see Public Service Co. of New Hampshire (Seabrook Station, Units 1 & 2), ALAB-875, 26 NRC 251, 265 & n.52 (1987), this situation hardly provides a compelling example that TMI-related requirements are not given the same priority as other regulations. Moreover, this point is essentially irrelevant to the focal issue of whether all applicable NUREG-0737 requirements have been incorporated into the agency's regulations and orders. The Commission can only reiterate that this indeed is the case and, accordingly, it has determined that these TMI-2 related provisions of § 2.764 are no longer necessary. Nonetheless, to ensure there is no uncertainty over the litigation of TMI-2 related issues, as was indicated in the Statement of Considerations for the

---

(Footnote Continued)

copy is available for public inspection and/or copying at the NRC Public Document Room, 2120 L Street, NW., Washington, DC.

proposed rule, the Commission is issuing a notice that sets forth its updated policy on litigation of TMI-2 related issues. This policy statement is published elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register.

#### Environmental Impact: Categorical Exclusion

The NRC has determined that this final rule is the type of action described in categorical exclusion 10 CFR 51.22(c)(1). Therefore, neither an environmental impact statement nor an environmental assessment has been prepared for this final regulation.

#### Paperwork Reduction Review

This final rule contains no new or amended information collection requirements and therefore is not subject to the requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980 (44 U.S.C. 3501 et seq.).

#### Regulatory Analysis

As a result of recent judicial decisions affirming the legality of the Commission's existing rule governing the "immediate effectiveness" of initial decisions in reactor operating license proceedings, the Commission has decided not to take further action to revise the existing rule's procedures on effectiveness reviews. However, retention of the TMI-2 related provisions of the current immediate effectiveness rule is unnecessary and would be misleading

to participants in NRC licensing proceedings. Those provisions are, therefore, being deleted.

- The final rule thus constitutes the preferred alternative and the cost involved in its promulgation and application is necessary and appropriate. The foregoing discussion constitutes the regulatory analysis for the final rule.

### Regulatory Flexibility Certification

In accordance with the Regulatory Flexibility Act, 5 U.S.C. 605(b), the NRC certifies that this final rule does not have a significant economic impact upon a substantial number of small entities. Entities seeking reactor construction permits or operating licenses that would be subject to the TMI-2 related provisions that are being deleted from the existing immediate effectiveness rule would not fall within the definition of small businesses found in section 34 of the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. 632, the Small Business Act Size Standards set out in regulations issued by the Small Business Administration at 13 CFR Part 121, or the NRC's size standards published December 9, 1985 (50 FR 50241). Further, intervenors who probably would fall within the pertinent Small Business Act definition will not encounter a significant economic impact from the final rule. The previous incorporation in NRC regulations and orders of all applicable TMI action items and the forthcoming publication of a Commission policy statement on litigation of TMI-related issues are effective substitutes for the existing TMI-2 related provisions of the immediate effective rule being deleted by this final rule.

## Backfit Analysis

This final rule does not modify or add to systems, structure, components, or design of a facility; the design approval or manufacturing license for a nuclear reactor facility; or the procedures or organization required to design, construct, or operate a facility. Accordingly, no backfit analysis pursuant to 10 CFR 50.109(c) is required for this final rule.

### List of Subject in 10 CFR Part 2

Part 2 - Administrative practice and procedure, Antitrust, Byproduct material, Classified information, Environmental protection, Nuclear materials, Nuclear power plants and reactors, Penalty, Sex Discrimination, Source Material, Special Nuclear Material, Waste treatment and disposal.

For the reasons set out in the preamble and under the authority of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended, and 5 U.S.C. 552 and 553, the NRC is adopting the following amendments to 10 CFR Part 2:

### PART 2 -- RULES OF PRACTICE FOR DOMESTIC LICENSING PROCEEDINGS

1. The authority citation for Part 2 continues to read as follows:

AUTHORITY: Secs. 161, 181, 68 Stat. 948, 953, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2201, 2231); sec. 191, as amended, Pub. L. 87-615, 76 Stat. 409 (42 U.S.C. 2241); sec. 201, 88 Stat. 1242, as amended (42 U.S.C. 5841); 5 U.S.C. 552. Section 2.101 also issued under secs. 53, 62, 63, 81, 103, 104, 105, 68 Stat. 930, 932, 933, 935, 936, 937, 938, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2073, 2092, 2093, 2111, 2133, 2134, 2135); sec. 301, 88 Stat. 1248 (42 U.S.C. 5871). Sections 2.102, 2.103, 2.104, 2.105, 2.721 also issued under

secs. 102, 103, 104, 105, 183, 189, 68 Stat. 936, 937, 938, 954, 955, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2132, 2133, 2134, 2135, 2233, 2239). Section 2.105 also issued under Pub. L. 97-415, 96 Stat. 2073 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Sections 2.200-2.206 also issued under secs. 186, 234, 68 Stat. 955, 83 Stat. 444, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2236, 2282); sec. 206, 88 Stat. 1246 (42 U.S.C. 5846). Sections 2.600-2.606 also issued under sec. 102, Pub. L. 91-190, 83 Stat. 853, as amended (42 U.S.C. 4332). Sections 2.700a, 2.719 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 554. Sections 2.754, 2.760, 2.770, 2.780 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 557. Section 2.764 and Table 1A of Appendix C also issued under secs. 135, 141, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2232, 2241 (42 U.S.C. 10155, 10161). Section 2.790 also issued under sec. 103, 68 Stat. 936, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2133) and 5 U.S.C. 552. Sections 2.800 and 2.808 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553. Section 2.809 also issued under 5 U.S.C. 553 and sec. 29, Pub. L. 85-256, 71 Stat. 579, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2039). Subpart K also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239); sec. 134, Pub. L. 97-425, 96 Stat. 2230 (42 U.S.C. 10154). Subpart L also issued under sec. 189, 68 Stat. 955 (42 U.S.C. 2239). Appendix A also issued under sec. 6, Pub. L. 91-560, 84 Stat. 1473 (42 U.S.C. 2135). Appendix B also issued under sec. 10, Pub. L. 99-240, 99 Stat. 1842 (42 U.S.C. 2021b et seq.).

2. In § 2.764, paragraphs (e)(1), (e)(2)(iii), and (f)(1) are revised to read as follows:

§ 2.764 Immediate effectiveness of initial decision directing issuance or amendment of construction permit or operating license.

\* \* \* \* \*

(e) \* \* \*

(1) Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards. Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards shall hear and decide all issues that come before them, indicating in their decisions the type of licensing action, if any, which their decision would authorize. The Boards' decisions concerning construction permits shall not become effective until the Appeal Board and Commission actions outlined in paragraphs (e)(2) and (e)(3) of this section have taken place.

(2) \* \* \*

(ii) In deciding these stay questions, the Appeal Board shall employ the procedures set out in 10 CFR 2.788. In addition to deciding the stay issue, the Appeal Board shall inform the Commission if it believes that the case raises issues on which prompt Commission policy guidance, particularly guidance on possible changes in present Commission regulations and policies, would advance the Board's appellate review. If the Appeal Board is unable to issue a decision within the sixty-day period, it should explain the cause of the delay to the Commission. The Commission shall thereupon either allow the Appeal Board the additional time necessary to complete its task or take other appropriate action, including taking the matter over itself. The running of the sixty-day period may not operate to make the Licensing Board decision effective. Unless otherwise ordered by the Commission, the Appeal Board shall conduct its normal appellate review of the Licensing Board decision after it has issued its decision on any stay request.

\* \* \* \* \*

(f) \* \* \*

(1) Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards. Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards shall hear and decide all issues that come before them, indicating in their decisions the type of licensing action, if any, which their decision would authorize. A Board's decision authorizing issuance of an operating license may not become effective insofar as it authorizes operating at greater

than 5 percent of rated power until the Commission actions outlined below in paragraph (f)(2) of this section have taken place. Insofar as it authorizes operation up to 5 percent, the decision is effective and the Director shall issue the appropriate license in accordance with paragraph (b) of this section.

\* \* \* \* \*

Dated at Rockville, MD, this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_ 1988.

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

\_\_\_\_\_  
SAMUEL J. CHILK,  
Secretary of the Commission.

**Attachment 2**



NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

Statement of Policy on Litigation of TMI-Related Issues  
in Power Reactor Operating License Proceedings;  
Revocation of Superseded Policy Statement Concerning  
TMI-Related Procedures

AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

ACTION: Policy statement; revocation of policy statement.

SUMMARY: The Nuclear Regulatory Commission is issuing an updated policy statement on the manner in which the applicant and any intervening party to an NRC operating license proceeding can raise a challenge to those requirements imposed upon utilities seeking an operating license as a result of the March 1979 accident at Three Mile Island, Unit 2. In addition, the Commission is revoking another policy statement relating to requirements imposed after the Three Mile Island accident as superseded by subsequent agency action.

EFFECTIVE DATE: [Insert date thirty days after publication in the Federal Register.]

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul Bollwerk, Senior Attorney, Office of the General Counsel, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC. 20555. Telephone: (301) 492-1634.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: Following the March 1979 accident at Three Mile Island, Unit 2 (TMI-2), the Commission took a number of regulatory measures designed to provide the appropriate mechanisms for assimilating the regulatory changes resulting from TMI-2 into the ongoing process for facility licensing. Principal among these was the Commission's issuance of policy guidance on how the regulatory requirements imposed as a result

of the TMI-2 incident were to be considered in the context of ongoing adjudicatory licensing proceedings and its suspension and later revision of the existing rule by which the initial decision of an Atomic Safety and Licensing Board authorizing issuance of a construction permit or an operating license was considered to be immediately effective. In the years since the accident, however, the Commission has taken a variety of responsive regulatory actions that raise questions about the continuing efficacy of its earlier policy statements concerning litigation of TMI-related issues and the suspension of the immediate effectiveness rule. Since the accident, the agency has identified various "lessons learned" from the TMI-2 accident, which are embodied in NUREG-0737, "Clarification of TMI Action Plan Requirements"<sup>1</sup> as well as specific licenses and orders. It also has implemented changes to update regulatory requirements on the basis of these "lessons." See, e.g., 10 CFR 50.44 (hydrogen control); 50.47, 50.54(s), and Appendix E to Part 50 (emergency planning); 50.54(w) (property insurance); Part 55 (operator training). The NRC staff has advised the Commission that all regulatory changes needed to implement NUREG-0737 have been completed and that compliance with existing regulations and orders is a sufficient response to all applicable TMI-2 accident "lessons learned." As a result, the Commission now believes further action is appropriate regarding the policy established by several policy statements published after the TMI-2 accident and discussed below.

---

<sup>1</sup>Copies of NUREG-0737 may be purchased from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, P.O. Box 37082, Washington, DC 20013-7082. Copies are also available from the National Technical

(FOOTNOTE CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE)

I. Commission Policy on Litigation of TMI-Related Issues  
in Power Reactor Operating License Proceedings

Current Commission policy on the appropriate parameters for applicant and intervenor litigation of TMI-related issues in operating license proceedings is set forth in a Commission Policy Statement, CLI-80-42, 12 NRC 654 (1980) (45 FR 85236; Dec. 24, 1980). However, the implementation of TMI "lessons learned" and other events have rendered much of the background discussion in this 1980 policy statement outdated and confusing. Also, while the Commission previously noted that very few operating license hearings have involved the litigation of these issues (48 FR 13987, 13988; Apr. 1, 1983), there nonetheless are facilities under construction for which certain specific guidance afforded by the policy statement could be pertinent. Accordingly, the Commission has decided to rescind that 1980 policy statement, but to provide the following supplemental guidance for the litigation of TMI-related issues in operating license proceedings:

In conjunction with existing NRC regulations, the list of TMI-related requirements for new operating licenses found in NUREG-0737, "Clarification of TMI Action Plan Requirements," can serve as the basis upon which the NRC staff makes a determination about whether an applicant meets the necessary requirements for issuance of an operating license as

---

(FOOTNOTE CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE)

Information Service, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161. A copy is available for public inspection and/or copying at the NRC Public Document Room, 2121 L Street, NW., Washington, DC.

those listed requirements interpret, refine, or quantify the general language of existing regulations. The parties to a proceeding may challenge these NUREG-0737 requirements as unnecessary on the one hand or insufficient on the other, within the limits of existing regulations. Parties to a proceeding, the Licensing Boards, and the Appeal Boards also should heed the additional Commission guidance regarding the litigation of TMI-related issues given in Pacific Gas and Electric Co. (Diablo Canyon Nuclear Power Plant, Units 1 and 2), CLI-81-5, 13 NRC 361 (1981).

## II. Policy Statement Relating to Immediate Effectiveness

Prior to the Commission's action in November 1979 adopting the now rescinded Appendix B to 10 CFR Part 2 (44 FR 65049),<sup>2</sup> the Commission's post-TMI policy relating to immediate effectiveness of Licensing Board initial decisions authorizing the issuance of construction permits and operating licenses was set forth in an October 1979 policy statement, "Interim Statement of Policy and Procedure" (44 FR 58559). This policy

---

<sup>2</sup>The existing Appendix B to Part 2, "General Statement of Policy and Procedures Concerning Petitions Pursuant to 2.802 for Disposal of Radiocative Waste Streams Below Regulatory Concern," which was issued on August 29, 1986 (51 FR 30839), is not related to this policy statement.

statement was superseded by the November 1979 action and is hereby  
• formally rescinded.

Dated at Rockville, MD, this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 1988.

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

---

Samuel J. Chilk,  
Secretary of the Commission.